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ANNUAL REPORT

South Western Sydney PHN is one of 
31 Primary Health Networks (PHNs) 
established by the Australian Government 
to increase efficiency and effectiveness of 
health and medical services in the local 
community. 

We do this by supporting local clinicians; understanding 
the healthcare needs and service gaps in our community 
through planning and consultation; and by focusing on 
improving access to primary care services for patients, 
particularly those in our community at risk of poor health 
outcomes. 

We are dedicated to supporting general practitioners, 
practice nurses and other primary health providers to deliver 
the best possible care for their patients and improve access 
to quality local healthcare for the whole community.  

We are also dedicated  to improving the coordination of care 
to ensure patients receive the right care, in the right place, at 
the right time. 

South Western Sydney PHN covers the local government 
areas of Bankstown, Fairfield, Liverpool, Camden, 
Campbelltown, Wollondilly and Wingecarribee.

Our purpose

To be a lead organisation enabling an effective, 
innovative  and integrated health system for South 
Western Sydney

To enhance and connect primary health care so 
residents and patients achieve better health outcomes

Our service standard

Our mission

To support and shape primary care services so all residents 
in our region can access the right care, at the right time, by 
the right people, at the right location

Our vision
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Our values

Make decisions free from bias 
and discrimination

Strength to lead and innovate

Behave honestly and accept 
responsibility for  

one’s conduct

Maintain mutual respect for 
one another and act 

 in good faith

Present a positive and 
constructive approach to 

future events

Gather insights and 
understanding of others’ 

experiences

Fairness

Courage

Integrity

Trust

Optimism

Empathy

1. A healthier 
community

4. An integrated health 
system that is  
fit for purpose

5. Primary healthcare 
that demonstrates 

value

2. An informed and 
empowered community

3. A better health 
system experience by 
GPs and primary care 

providers 



Our goals
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Chair’s report

Welcome, on behalf of the Board and staff, to South Western Sydney PHN’s (SWSPHN) annual report for the year ending 
30 June 2019. You will see, in the pages that follow, that we continue to grow and mature as an organisation as we strive to 
achieve better health outcomes for our community.

Key to meeting this aim of improving the health and wellbeing of the people of our region, is understanding their healthcare 
needs. This year (for the first time) we jointly developed, in partnership with the South Western Sydney Local Health District, 
an in-depth health needs analysis. This report gives us valuable insight into the health of the population today as well as into 
the future. 

Such insight is vital to inform the commissioning of services to meet the needs of our rapidly growing and changing 
society. Commissioning is one of our core responsibilities and, as demonstrated in the services delivered, we are becoming 
increasingly sophisticated in this endeavour. 

Furthermore, we continue to focus on supporting and strengthening our general practitioner (GP) and primary care workforce, 
through practice support, quality improvement programs, HealthPathways and many other activities. We pursue this as a 
priority to assist our healthcare providers to deliver the best possible care for their patients. 

Best possible care includes innovation and integration of health services so that people can access the right care, when they 
need it, at the right location. Project iRAD is an innovative program that enables sharing of critical information between GPs, 
hospitals and other health providers that has the potential to change the health landscape. 

None of these significant achievements are possible without the commitment and dedication of many. I would like to thank 
my colleagues on the Board for their leadership and stewardship of SWSPHN throughout the year. The Board gratefully 
acknowledges the service and resolve of our CEO, Keith McDonald, Executive team and staff. Many thanks also to our 
committee members, member organisations and partners who work with us to reach our goals. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Australian Government and the Department of Health for their continuing support, 
funding and confidence in SWSPHN. 

I do hope you enjoy reading this Annual Report and I commend it to you.
 
 
Dr Matthew Gray
Chair, South Western Sydney PHN

ANNUAL REPORT
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CEO’s report

ANNUAL REPORT

We are an organisation on a mission. 

This Annual Report speaks for itself. We are a responsible corporate citizen that commissions affordable, evidence-based 
services for vulnerable people; invests in integrated person-centred care paths; and continuously builds the capacity of local 
general practice.  

Why do we do this? We know many of our communities in South Western Sydney have greater health challenges than most, 
fuelled by socioeconomic disadvantage, barriers to access and explosive population growth. A future that includes better 
health outcomes for our residents needs enhanced and connected primary healthcare.

It will not be achieved with a business-as-usual approach and no one provider can do it stand-alone. It requires a collective 
commitment to innovative practice and partnerships across services and sectors.
 
I invite you to look at our Annual Report through this lens.  I am confident you will quickly recognise what our skilled and 
dedicated team seeks to accomplish.  

You will see:

•   Our commitment to enhancing the quality and safety of our 431 general practices and the 

     professional experience of our 1,045 GPs and 376 Practice Nurses.

•   A suite of contracts for priority services in Aboriginal health; chronic disease management; drug 

     treatment services; GP after hours services; mental health; and palliative care.

•   Numerous activities that enhance patients’ own understanding of their health and care needs.

•   A range of strategies in partnership with other PHNs, NSW Health, the South Western Local Health 

     District, universities, local governments, Tharawal AMS and key non-government organisations (even 

     the Canterbury Bankstown Bulldogs NRL club!).

•   A high-performing operation built on ISO certification, a Reconciliation Action Plan, upgraded 

     financial management systems and overwhelmingly positive measures of staff culture. 

Together with the Board and Executive, we look optimistically to 2019/2020 as a year for further growth and opportunity to 
benefit our communities in South Western Sydney. 
 
Dr Keith McDonald PhD
CEO, South Western Sydney PHN
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COMMISSIONING

68 43 5,771 35,973
contracts 
managed

unique  clients 
supported 

(mental health 
or  AOD)

service 
providers

mental 
health & AOD 
occasions of 

service

THE COMMISSIONING CYCLE
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In our third year as a commissioning 
agent, SWSPHN has developed stronger 
relationships with stakeholders and 
delivered enhanced services which meet 
the health needs of our community. 

It requires a robust understanding of our region’s health 
needs, and strong engagement with consumers and service 
providers to develop and implement new models of care 
that improve health outcomes. 

SWSPHN strategically plans, procures services, and 
monitors and evaluates those services. This is done in a 
continuous quality loop linking the evaluation of current 
services’ success in improving the health of our community 
to planning for the next commissioning cycle. 
 
We commission services to address gaps in mental health, 
alcohol and other drugs, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
health, integrated health including diabetes, hepatitis C, 
antenatal shared care and palliative care services, and 
access to after hours GP care. 

 
Building capacity through co-design 

In 2018-19, we have focused on developing stronger 
relationships with, and building the capacity of, our service 
providers. A key way of doing this is through the co-design 
of services. Co-design gives those who do, or will provide, 
a service, and those who use, or will use a service, a voice in 
the development of that service. 

During the past year we have also enhanced services by 
simplifying processes, modifying and improving existing 
services in response to what we’ve learned during the 

previous year, and increasing service delivery to better meet 
our community’s needs. In the year ahead we’ll have an 
even stronger focus on outcomes-based commissioning 
by leveraging data visualisation tools like Qlik Sense to 
more effectively measure the impacts, and drive further 
improvements from our services so residents and patients 
achieve better health outcomes.  
 
Geo Mapping analysis of GP access
 
If we could put a GP in every corner of South Western 
Sydney, how would that affect the potential for preventable 
hospitalisations?
 
SWSPHN’s Commissioning team investigated that question 
in 2018-19. 

COMMISSIONING

Commissioning to meet local need

SWSPHN managed 68 contracts in the last 
financial year, which supported 4,101 unique 

mental health clients across 27,541 sessions and 
1,670 unique drug and alcohol clients  

on 8,432 occasions Our Commissioning team, with the South Western Sydney 
Local Health District’s Population Health Intelligence, 
Healthy People and Places Unit, used geo mapping and 
spatial analysis to identify whether access to GPs influenced 
potentially preventable hospitalisations. The theory is, if 
there’s good management of health in primary care or in the 
community, then those hospitalisations can be prevented. 
 
Put simply, geo mapping lets you take raw address data and 
turn it into a points on a map. 
 
We also worked together to analyse chronic potentially 
preventable hospitalisation data, population data and 
primary care provider data to identify hotspots. 
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The project analysed General Practice data including:

•    the number of GPs in each Practice
•    languages spoken by the GP other than English
•   General Practice opening hours 
•   whether the Practice bulk bills.  

The study found access to GPs only explained 3 per cent 
of potentially preventable hospitalisation clusters. It found 
socio-economic disadvantage was the key factor (8 per 
cent), despite areas of high disadvantage having greater 
access to primary care. 

While international research exists about the role of primary 
care access in impacting health outcomes, our ground-
breaking research was a first for a NSW PHN, and will be 
replicated across Allied Health services in South Western 
Sydney in the future. 

Research - innovations in primary 
healthcare 

SWSPHN supports the research of universities and health 
institutes to ensure innovations in primary healthcare can 
be translated into practice to improve the health outcomes 
of South Western Sydney’s population. 

We do this by promoting research and partnering on 
projects which align with our regional priorities,  guided by a 
strategic research framework which outlines the criteria of 
the projects the PHN can be involved in and the extent to 
which we are involved. 
 
 
Projects and partnerships 

In 2018-19 we supported 22 research projects, and 
partnered on projects including Active Breed, and 
the Innovative Models Promoting Access to Care 

Transformation (IMPACT) and OPTIMISE research projects 
which aimed to improve the treatment of specific patients in 
primary care.
 
In South Western Sydney, more than half the population with 
diabetes are Arabic-speaking, many with poorly managed 
Type 2 diabetes. Through the IMPACT project, SWSPHN 
developed a diabetes web portal which links to resources 
and instructions to educate GPs on managing Type 2 
diabetes and to support their patients better manage their 
own diabetes. The information provided through the portal 
is in Arabic and English. 

The OPTIMISE project is a collaboration between the 
University of NSW, Monash University and other refugee 
health providers, and looks at ways to improve access to 
care for refugees and asylum seekers.  
 
A needs assessment looked at gaps in care and found 
general practice had no way to identify refugee patients and 
tailor care accordingly. SWSPHN developed a screening tool 
and module which are incorporated into practice software 
and  provide advice and instructions on managing refugee 
patients.

Highlights of the year included outcomes-based 
commissioning training for all staff, and our collaboration 
work on the delivery of the commissioning showcase.

COMMISSIONING

SWSPHN led the way for NSW PHNs with 
 ground-breaking research on the role  

of primary care access in affecting  
health outcomes
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COMMISSIONING

Joint Population Health Needs Assessment 
focuses on future of our community 
A blue print for the future health needs 
of our community was created this year 
thanks to the joint planning collaboration 
between South Western Sydney PHN 
and South Western Sydney Local Health 
District. 

The South West Sydney: Our Health report is a detailed 
picture of the health status of our community and will be 
used to guide the investment and focus of resources in our 
region.

The Population Health Planning units from both 
organisations undertook the in-depth analysis and 
produced the report with the view to defining the needs of 
the population today and into the future.

Vision for future healthcare

The report enables both organisations and the broader 
community to develop facilities and services to meet the 
needs of our community as it grows and changes.

By 2031, South Western Sydney’s population  
will reach 1.3 million people, an increase of  

more than 300,000 from 2016

The document confirms that our population is growing 
and changing and we now have expert analysis to help us 
continue to deliver great care while also allowing us to better 
plan for the future. 

By 2031, South Western Sydney’s population will reach 1.3 
million people, an increase of more than 300,000 from
2016.

As our community grows and changes, our planning and co-
design of evidence-based health services to meet needs
must also adapt to these changes.

The report provides the PHN and LHD with granular detail 
which can be built on to develop evidence-based services
that will best meet the needs of our community both now 
and into the future.
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COMMISSIONING

Honestly, FYRST Youthlink have been my lifeline 
through the most difficult time in my life. 

 It is so good to know someone/ people truly care 
and want the best for me, thanks to you guys it’s 

happening quicker than I could myself.
The counsellor is very polite and 

well-informed about my needs and issues. 
 I believe she has helped me very much on my 

rehabilitation journey.

Headspace was a fantastic resource  
and helped me to overcome my issues and deal 
with life stresses. My counsellor was amazing, 
so honest and welcoming and provided great 

strategies and activities to help me understand 
the issues I had and how I could work with them 

from home not just in the sessions with her. 
 I am deeply grateful to the help I received and 

thankful I had such a beautiful counsellor.

I wouldn’t want to go anywhere else :)

My experience has been more than helpful talking 
about my situations/problems, helping me sort 

my life out, actually taking notice.

Testimonials from service users

Staff commitment to support me even on days when I wasn't very cooperative. Staff 
willingness to keep putting up with me even when I’m negative sometimes.

Being heard, feeling safe. Dealt with 
empathy but also extremely honest, 

respectful and caring.
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COMMISSIONING

Being on this program has help ease  
my anxiety. I have a regular session booked and 

I don’t feel pressured because I don’t have to 
worry about running out of sessions and being 

abandoned. My psychologist has been fantastic.  
If I didn’t have my regular sessions to look forward 

to I probably wouldn’t still be here, she has 
helped me so much and I know I have a very long 

path ahead of me and I am so glad to have this 
program. Thank you for saving me.

Being able to talk about my problems, 
comfortable with the psychologist. Improvement 

in my physical and emotional health.

Location, warmth and attitude of my 
counsellor, flexibility of appointments, 

accessibility of service via phone or 
internet, non-judgemental  

approach, genuine care.

Ease of access, free of charge, and complete 
professionalism at all times.

The continuity of care and support given is 
outstanding. We are extremely happy with the 

services and without their service my family 
would not be coping and as healthy and happy 
as we are today. Their combined therapy and 

understanding of autism  
has helped my family immensely.

How much everyone cares about your issue and 
how many things there are to solve your problem.

I quit marijuana and I have money in the bank. 
 My family was surprised.

Mental Health and Alcohol and Other Drugs services 
The best things about this service were…

The talk is 'real', 
 it connects. Simple 
comments often 

provide great 
illumination on issues.  

I like the fact that when you 
are in you are heard and not 

rushed. You can be led to find what 
you need because sufficient time  

is given.



SUPPORTING 
 PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

6,906 225 1,001 3,644
times PSOs 

engaged 
with general 

practice

GPs 
attending 

CPD events

 clients 
supported by 

Consultant 
Psychiatry 

Service

users on  
HealthPathways 

website
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SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

What we’re doing to support GPs and  
the primary healthcare workforce

Consultant Psychiatry   

With access to affordable psychiatry limited in South 
Western Sydney, SWSPHN’s new Consultant Psychiatry 
Service fills a well observed gap in services by providing free, 
flexible psychiatry support to people living with severe and 
persistent mental illness.   

The free, flexible psychiatry support service responds 
to consistent calls for more bulk billing psychiatrists in 
South Western Sydney and greater support for GPs in the 
treatment and support of patients with severe mental 
illness. 

It is delivered by Dokotela – which connects patients with 
specialist doctors and clinicians through a secure online 
booking and video-conferencing platform – as both 
telepsychiatry available at any general practice in the region, 
and at face-to-face hubs at select locations in Bankstown, 
Fairfield, Liverpool, Campbelltown and Wollondilly. 

Since its launch in February this year, the service has 
engaged 225 clients across 127 session hours.  

The majority of sessions have been delivered face-to-
face, however moving forward there will be a focus on 
increasing the use of the telehealth option. The telehealth 
option in particular allows patients and their GP to access 
psychiatrists with a greater range of expertise, experience 
and skills.

It is expected that supporting GPs in the treatment of 
patients at a primary care level (including appropriate 
prescribing of medications) via a multidisciplinary approach 
will reduce avoidable hospitalisations of people with severe 
and complex mental illness. 

Feedback from the sector has been positive with more 
people being referred as the service grows.

Building the capacity of general practice and 
supporting health professionals to deliver 
efficient, high quality patient care is central 
to the work of South Western Sydney PHN.

Engaging clinicians and general practice staff through 
Practice Support, Health Systems Improvement and Clinical 
Support, under SWSPHN’s Service Support banner, is key to 
ensuring all residents achieve better health outcomes. 
 
We also support general practice by providing quality 
continuing professional development and  commissioning 
services in mental health, alcohol and other drugs and 
diabetes and hepatitis C care that directly support GPs and 
Practice Nurses to deliver the best possible care.  
 
We aim to keep general practice informed through our 
monthly Practice Pulse e-newsletters and we regularly seek 
feedback  on our work by engaging local clinicians in the 
planning, development, implementation and evaluation of 
our services.

Since its launch in February this year, the 
service has engaged 225 clients across 127 

session hours
- Consultant Psychiatry Service - delivered by Dokotela
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Quality Improvement in Primary Care 
(QIPC) 

SWSPHN’s Quality Improvement in Primary Care (QIPC) 
program has grown significantly in the past 12 months. 

Program highlights include improvements in recording 
patient information, identifying high risk patients and 
increasing potential business revenue within practices in the 
last financial year. 

The QIPC program uses practice data to improve the quality 
and efficiency of patient care in general practice.  Data 

can be gathered from patient or staff feedback, an audit 
of clinical databases or the analysis of near misses and 
mistakes. 

SWSPHN supports quality improvement in general practice 
with strategies to embed quality improvement systems and 
improve data quality. 

A key part of the program is to analyse the data of 
participating practices to identify areas for improvement, 

SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

In 2018-19,  207 practices participated in the 
QIPC program – 25 practices in Tier 1, data 

sharing; 115 in Tier 2, data quality; and 67 in  
Tier 3 clinical focus  

assist with goal setting and improvement activities, and 
provide quarterly progress reports and feedback.  

Now in its second year, the QIPC program comprises three 
tiers that indicate the practice’s level of engagement in 
quality improvement – as engagement increases, practices 
move into higher tiers. 

In 2018-19,  207 practices participated in the QIPC program 
– 25 practices participated in Tier 1 (data sharing), 115 in 
Tier 2 (data quality) and 67 in Tier 3 (clinical focus). 

In Tier 2 practices, there was a 19.9 per cent increase 
in reporting ethnicity from 71 practices; a 12.4 per cent 
increase in reporting smoking status from 68 practices; 
a 10.7 per cent increase in reporting alcohol intake from 
107 practices; a 9.9 per cent increase in reporting waist 
measurements from 86 practices; and an 8.8 per cent 
increase in recording BMI from 113 practices. 

In Tier 3 practices, in their clinical areas of focus, successes 
included a 56.2 per cent increase in reviewing potentially 
undiagnosed Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) patients from 
37 practices; a 12.74 per cent increase in coded CKD 
diagnosis from 37 practices; and a 10.1 per cent increase in 
coded diabetes diagnosis from 34 practices. 

During the year, the QIPC program was also preparing for 
the introduction of the Practice Incentive Payment Quality 
Improvement (PIPQI) on 1 August 2019. A requirement of 
the new PIP is that practices must participate in a quality 
improvement program with their local PHN. 
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SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

Practice Support 

SWSPHN’s team of Practice Support Officers (PSOs) work 
closely with our region’s GPs, practice nurses and practice 
managers to build the capacity of all general practice staff 
and ensure the delivery of high-quality care. 

Our Practice Support team’s involvement with general 
practice evolved during the past couple of years and in 
2018-19 the team proactively engaged practices with 
programs including: Clinical Audit Tool (PenCAT) use in 
Quality Improvement, Quality Improvement in Primary Care 
(QIPC), My Health Record and Accreditation 5th edition. 

PSO support is tailored to meet the individual needs of 
practices and is provided through practice visits, over the 
phone and via email.  

In the last financial year, our Practice Support team recorded 
3,154 interactions with General Practices, which is based on 
interactions with 1,230 GPs, Practice Nurses, Practice Staff 
and Practice Managers collectively.

A focus on improvement

The team has a strong focus on accreditation which supports 
improvements in general practice through better internal 
processes, continuous staff development and enhanced 
quality care for patients.  

In 2018-19, our PSOs have been training practices in 
the use of the PenCat to identify input data which needs 
improvement, allowing the practice to participate in the QIPC 
program and to qualify for the PIPQI.  

As a part of the QIPC program, each quarter our PSOs assist 
practices to identify areas needing improvement by providing 
a report on their data and assisting them to create a Model 
for Improvement. The end goal is an improvement in patient 
data. 

Our Practice Support Officers recorded 3,154 
interactions with General Practices, based on 
interactions with 1,230 GPs, Practice Nurses, 

Practice Staff and Practice Managers collectively

 
My Health Record also becomes more useful and accurate for 
the multiple health professionals who are sharing the care of 
a patient when patient data is improved.  

These quality improvement tasks assist general practice 
in meeting the new Accreditation 5th edition standards for 
general practice.  

 
There are currently 239 accredited practices in South 
Western Sydney and 115 practices we are working with to 
improve patient data. There are also 320 general practices 
registered to share patient data via My Health Record.  

All other SWSPHN programs within general practice are also 
focused on accreditation.  

Once a practice registers for accreditation or re-
accreditation, PSOs will assist practice staff develop a 
12-month plan with monthly goal-setting. 
 
Throughout the 12 months, PSOs guide and support the 
practice staff to ensure the practice can successfully achieve 
general practice accreditation.  

At SWSPHN, the Practice Support team work closely with our 
Health Systems Improvement, Clinical Support and Digital 
Health teams to ensure that the support provided to general 
practice is coordinated and comprehensive and improves 
patient care.  
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Continuing Professional Development 

Our commitment to providing high quality continuing 
professional development for GPs, practice nurses and 
practice staff across our region continued in 2018-2019.  

As part of our education program, we delivered a total 
of 66 events across all LGAs, including three one-day 
conferences. 

SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

Our continuing professional development program 
facilitates education that supports general practice as the 
cornerstone of primary care and builds the capacity of all 
general practice staff to ensure patients receive the best 
possible care through an effective and efficient local primary 
healthcare system.  

A highlight of the education calendar was our first-ever 
conference hosting GPs, Practice Nurses and Practices 
Managers for the one-day event at the Future of General 
Practice conference in June this year.  

The shift to one-day conferences has proved a hit with 309 
GPs, nurses and practice staff attending at least one of our 
day events during the financial year. Education for the day 

The shift to one-day conferences has proved 
a hit with 309 GPs, nurses and practice staff 

attending at least one of our day events during 
the financial year 

Taking diabetes management online 

With diabetes care becoming more complex and people 
with diabetes presenting sicker and more likely to develop 
chronic complications, supporting general practice to tackle 
the growing problem is vital. 

In 2018-19, SWSPHN supported the management of 
diabetes in primary care by continuing to make Aus-CDEP 
tokens (Cambridge Diabetes Education Program – Australia) 
available in South Western Sydney. 

Aus-CDEP is an online diabetes education program covering 
the fundamental topics for managing diabetes in general 
practice. It is free to GPs  and nurses in our region and 
supports health professionals to assess and demonstrate 
their ‘knowledge’ and ‘know how’ in diabetes management. 
This financial year, we made 31 Aus-CDEP tokens (or access 
codes) available to primary care in  
our region.

conferences focused on Women’s Health, Mental Health 
and Drug and Alcohol Comorbidities and embracing team-
based care.  

In 2018-19, we supported a total of 1001 GPs at our events.  
We also hosted 17 practice nurse education events, three of 
which were specifically for practice nurses, with 325 nurses 
attending.  

Twelve sessions were held for practice managers, five of 
which were specifically for practice managers, with 121 
practice managers attending. We also hosted 11 events to 
support receptionists, with 103 receptionists attending. 
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SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

HealthPathways 

HealthPathways South Western Sydney had a milestone 
year with 152 pathways either localised, reviewed or 
updated, bringing the total number of localised pathways to 
more than 500 in 2018-19.

SWSPHN has partnered with the South Western Sydney 
Local Health District (SWSLHD) since 2015 to develop 
localised health pathways for clinicians across the region. 

In 2018-19 we focused on continuing to localise additional 
health pathways, embed HealthPathways as business as 
usual, and expand HealthPathways with the development of 
a patient portal and health literacy information. 

Utilisation of the HealthPathways website has continued to 
increase year-on-year by 32 per cent, totalling 3,644 users, 
16,975 site sessions and 73,664 page views. 

HealthPathways South Western Sydney is a key integration 
strategy designed to support the shared vision of SWSPHN 
and SWSLHD of enabling clinicians to provide high quality 
and safe patient care in partnership, ensuring the right care 
is delivered at the right place, in the right time, by the  
right person. 

Practice Nursing 

SWSPHN is committed to supporting general practice 
nurses who are increasingly playing a vital role in delivering 
continuity of care to patients and improving health 
outcomes.

In 2018-19, there were more than 360 practice nurses 
employed in 190 general practices across our region.
SWSPHN’s Practice Nursing Program aims to strengthen 
our general practice workforce to improve access to 
services and provide quality, evidence-based primary care to 
patients.

Our Practice Nursing team encourage ongoing 
improvement by delivering a wide range of support to 
practice nurses.

This includes: continuing professional development; 
education and training events; orientation and mentoring; 
telephone support; and in-house visits and education in 
areas including MBS billing, clinical software training, chronic 
disease management, care planning, health assessments, 
immunisation and infection control/sterilisation.

Last financial year, SWSPHN held 148 education training 
sessions with 97 different nurses. We also engaged with 
practice nurses 314 times with 104 different nurses through 
practice visits, telephone and email support.

Utilisation of the HealthPathways website 
has continued to increase year-on-year by 

32 per cent, totalling 3,644 users, 16,975 site 
sessions and 73,664 page views

It is an online clinical and health service information portal 
written for a general practice audience. The program brings 
together local GPs and hospital specialists to discuss how 
to better coordinate care for patients with specific health 
conditions, and how to access local health services. 

HealthPathways workgroups also bring together a range of 
health professionals to identify potential service redesign 
opportunities and identify gaps in care coordination. 

The website provides a platform to improve coordinated 
care within our region and consequently a positive impact 
on the cost of health delivery.
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SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

Hepatitis C Clinial Nurse Consultant
 
Hepatitis C is a significant health concern in South Western 
Sydney, with doctors in our region reporting between 300 
and 400 cases of hepatitis C each year and up to 3470 new 
cases being reported across NSW.

To combat this, SWSPHN has partnered with the South 
Western Sydney Local Health District to provide support in 
the screening, management and treatment of hepatitis C 
by GPs with the co-funding of a Clinical Nurse Consultant 
(CNC) in 2018-19. 

Since November, the Hepatitis C CNC has been providing 
expert advice on viral hepatitis, clinical assessment, triage 
and management to GPs who have patients with, and those 
at risk of hepatitis C.

The CNC identifies monitoring and management 
requirements, assists practice staff to develop hepatitis 
management plans and facilitates education in viral 
hepatitis for primary care staff.
 
Support provided to practices includes visits to assist with 
auditing of patients’ medical records, identifying cases, 
determining a patient’s suitability for treatment, assistance 
with work-up to treatment, and support to prescribe direct 
acting antiviral medications and follow up required.

Mentorship is also provided to primary care nurses to 
identify patients in general practice with hepatitis C and 
screen those at risk of hepatitis C, attend assessments 
and work-up to treatment, and ultimately cure patients of 
hepatitis C. Phone consultations and email support are also 
provided. 

The CNC project aims to increase the number of people 
accessing hepatitis C treatment in the primary care setting 
and identify opportunities in general practice to improve 
awareness, education and cure of hepatitis C. Its priorities 
includes people who inject drugs, Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander communities and people from culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds. 

Hepatitis C is a significant health concern 
 in South Western Sydney, with doctors  

in our region reporting between  
300 and 400 cases each year

Between November 2018 and the end of June 2019, 10 
unique patients were supported by the CNC, 83 GPs or 
general practices were contacted for support, 36 unique 
GPs were supported – with the top three locations being 
Fairfield, Liverpool and Wollondilly.
 
During the same period 10 unique practice nurses were 
supported – with the highest number in Campbelltown – 68 
people were screened for hepatitis C, 30 by their GP with 
the assistance of the CNC and 38 in the community by  
the CNC.

Stengthening communications with 
general practice 

Our Practice Pulse e-newsletter, for GPs, Practice Nurses 
and Practice managers is distributed on the first Wednesday 
of each month to general practices across South Western 
Sydney. 

It is among a variety of ways our Communications team 
supports general practice and ensures our primary 
healthcare workforce is kept up-to-date. To do this we 
provide timely and relevant health information and alerts, 
new online resources, learning opportunities including 
webinars, our activities, events and resources, and our 
commissioned services. 

The e-newsletter includes a profile of a local GP each 
month, giving primary healthcare providers an opportunity 
to learn about and from their colleagues across region, and 
an update on our HealthPathways resources. 
 
QIPC Pulse, an e-newsletter, is also distributed quarterly 
to update general practices participating in our Quality 
Improvement in Primary Care program.  
 
In addition to our e-newsletter, SWSPHN’s Communications 
team engages with general practice through direct mail-
outs as needed and provides information relevant to general 
practice about upcoming webinars, learning opportunities, 
workshops and urgent health information through our 
Facebook, Twitter and Linked In platforms.
 
Our SWSPHN corporate website, also managed by our 
Communications team, provides a wealth of important 
information for health professionals about the support we 
provide general practice, our commissioned services and 
local resources relevant to our regional priorities  
and campaigns. 
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Digital Health

SWSPHN’s Digital Health team supports improvements 
in the efficiency, effectiveness and quality of local health 
services by providing digital health education and supports 
to, and fostering collaboration between, the local health 
district, primary care health professionals and practices in 
the region.

In 2018-19, we hosted 13 CPD events for GPs, practice 
nurses, pharmacists, allied health and specialists on digital 
health topics including the My Health Record, Secure 
Messaging and Privacy and Security. 
Enhancing remote Digital Health support during this period 
saved SWSPHN staff more than 260 hours of travel time or 
seven working weeks.

SUPPORTING PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

General Practice drug and alcohol advice 
and support service

Aimed at providing support to GPs providing care to patients 
with alcohol and other drugs concerns and associated co-
morbidities, the telephone hotline is funded by SWSPHN 
and delivered by the South Western Sydney Local Health 
Disctrict.

The service gives GPs direct access to local consultant 
drug health clinicians who an advise on appropriate referral 
pathways for specific or general concerns, with case 
conferencing also available.

Between November 2018 and June 2019, the service 
recorded 170 hotline interactions, including supporting 
25 new GPs across the region. A total of 51 clients were 
discharged from drug health services to the care of their 
GPs during the same period and the drug health clinicians 
held 71 face-to-face case conferences.

With our support, there was a 20 per cent increase in 
GPComms usage – South Western Sydney Local Health 
District’s eDischarge Summary delivery system – resulting 
in 21,279 total eDischarge summaries successfully delivered 
to general practices across the region.

SWSPHN activated our innovative iRAD project at four pilot 
sites this financial year, with major release testing completed 
over the course of two weeks and 54 users trained, including 
30 GPs. 

Other initiatives were undertaken through the Wollondilly 
Health Alliance including: 

•  The Telehealth Project which involved the   
   installation of new telehealth systems at four practices  
   in the shire, and a successful pilot project launched  
   with the Rehabilitation Unit at Camden Hospital.

•  The Secure Message Delivery Project (SMD), which 
    concluded in December 2018, with 10 practices  
    now having SMD enabled in their practices and more 
    than 749 referrals and messages sent from general  
    practices.

In 2018-19, 21 additional providers had 
Secure Messaging software installed across 
the region, bringing the total number to 408 

providers, including 307 general practices

In 2018-19, 21 additional providers had Secure Messaging 
software installed across the region, bringing the total 
number to 408 providers, including 307 general practices, 
77 specialists, 15 pathology and diagnostic imaging services 
and nine allied health services.
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To realise an integrated health system that 
is truly patient-centred, we work with our 
key partners to align health systems and 
organisational cultures, reduce service gaps 
and duplication, and engage health providers 
to create seamless, coordinated care.  

To overcome the sometimes fragmented health system we 
must embrace ambitious integration so all people receive 
the right care, in the right place, at the right time, by the right 
person.    

INTEGRATION

Working towards enhanced integration in health

GP Antenatal Shared Care 

GP Antenatal Shared Care was a popular choice for 
expectant mothers across South Western Sydney in 2018-
19 with more than 1000 women receiving antenatal care 
from GPs registered with the program. 

The Antenatal Shared Care program is a collaboration 
between SWSPHN and the South Western Sydney Local 
Health District and is available to women who are likely to 
have an uncomplicated or low risk pregnancy.  

Care is provided collaboratively by the hospital-based 
service and the GP, and is designed to provide women with 
continuity of care with their GP throughout their pregnancy 
and afterwards. 

In 2018-19, 1616 women were cared for through the 
program, with the busiest months being May and June this 
year when 174 women accessed the program each month.  
 
This financial year there were 327 GPs across South 
Western Sydney providing Antenatal Shared Care. 

South Western Sydney Integrated Care 
Collaborative driving integration

The South Western Sydney Integrated Care Collaborative 
continued its work as the peak committee overseeing 
healthcare integration in South Western Sydney. 

South Western Sydney PHN is proud to be a key partner in 
the collaborative.

The committee formed in 2016, comprising the most senior 
leadership from the LHD and PHN, local GPs, universities, 
consumers and other key stakeholders. 

The committee’s key achievements during the past 12 
months included the establishment of Fairfield Health 
Alliance, the continued oversight of Oran Park Family 
Health Centre and informing an integrated approach to 
interoperable IT systems to support real-time exchange of 
health data between clinicians.

Work has also centred around the evaluation of the 
HealthPathways program and informing the development of 
a ‘Care in the Community’ plan.

The Care Collaborative is looking forward to the next 
12 months where the committee will revise the original 
collaboration agreement to ensure the future of service 
integration in South Western Sydney remains focused  
and strategic. 
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INTEGRATION

After Hours GP access 

Our commissioned After Hours medical services have 
continued to provide the local  community with convenient, 
accessible and fully bulk billed GP care after hours in  
2018-19. 

After Hours medical care is available across our region 
before 8am or after 6pm on weekdays, before 8am or after 
12 noon on Saturdays, and all day on Sundays and public 
holidays, for urgent injuries or illnesses which are non-life-
threatening. 

 
Services are provided at locations in the Campbelltown, 
Liverpool, Fairfield, Bankstown local government areas 
and at Bowral in the Southern Highlands; and home visiting 
services care provided at Camden and Wollondilly.
 
In 2018-19, our After Hours commissioned services 
attended  to 11,272 patients face-to-face across the 
region, and received more than 5,000 phone calls.
 
We’ve extended the contracts of our four service providers 
– Australian Medical Cooperative Limited which provides 
services at Bankstown, Campbelltown and Fairfield; 
Liverpool Medical Services which provides services at 
Moorebank; Southern Highlands After Hours Service which 
provides services at Bowral; and Sydney Medical Services 
which provides home visits in Camden and Wollondilly. 

SWSPHN commissions After Hours medical care to prevent 
patients who could best be treated by a GP in the after 
hours period from presenting at local hospital emergency 
departments.  

We promote the referral of Category 4 and 5 (non-urgent) 
cases to After Hours GP services in most emergency 
departments across South Western Sydney. 

 
We do this by disseminating posters and fridge magnets 
which provide instructions on how to access the Health 
Direct App.  
 
The app provides a variety of information for the consumer 
and also includes which pharmacies are open after hours in 
their local area. Our ‘Your Health Your Time Your Way’ video 
promoting After Hours care is also played in the Bankstown 
Hospital emergency department. 
 
SWSPHN is currently undertaking an After Hours medical 
care needs assessment and establishing a working group 
which will use information gathered to design what our 
services will look like in 2020.

After Hours medical care can be found at:
   • Southern Highlands: GP After Hours Service is located 
      at 21 St Jude Street, Bowral. 
   • Campbelltown: After Hours GP care at David Wilson  
      Chemist, 241 Queen Street, Campbelltown
    • Liverpool: After Hours GP care at Shop 12,  
      32-40 Moorebank Village, Stockton Avenue, Moorebank
    • Fairfield: After Hours GP care van at Club Marconi 
       car park, 121-133 Prairie Vale Rd, Bossley Park
    • Bankstown: After Hours GP care at Brigadoon Medical 
       Centre, corner Macarthur Ave and Brett St, Revesby.

In 2018-19, our After Hours commissioned 
services attended  to 11,272 patients  
face-to-face across the region,  and  

received more than 5000 phone calls
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INTEGRATION

Cancer Australia Breast Cancer Shared 
Follow-up Care Project 
 
In February 2019, SWSPHN was the successful tenderer to 
work with Cancer Australia to develop a care pathway for 
breast cancer shared follow-up care.
 
 The tender was submitted in partnership with South 
Western Sydney Local Health District (SWSLHD) with 
SWSPHN being the project lead.

Between March and June 2019, a working party consisting 
of SWSPHN staff, SWSLHD specialists and operational 
managers, general practitioners, a consumer representative 
and Cancer Australia met regularly to develop two 
care pathways – a HealthPathways version and a non-
HealthPathways version. 
  
Work was also completed on the development of associated 
resources including checklists, and referral processes.

Accompanying the care pathway, SWSPHN developed a 
guidance document to support other PHNs in rolling out a 
shared follow-up care model within their region.  

This included considerations for both urban and remote 
regions as well as steps to roll out the actual care pathways 
to support general practice.

During the program’s development, there were a number of 
challenges.  

A lot of the clinical guidance documents that the care 
pathway and guidance document was to support were still 
in draft and as a result there was a lack of clarity regarding 
some aspects of the model, including the requirements of 
the general practitioners and the frequency of reviews.  

The project team also identified a number of practical 
challenges for general practice to implement the model 
which resulted in revisions and feedback provided to Cancer 
Australia regarding the in-draft guidelines.

The program was completed on-time with all 
documentation and a project report sent to Cancer 
Australia. The results of this project have not yet been 
released and it is expected that this will occur when the 
national guidelines are published. 

Overall, the project was able to produce a large body of 
work on-time and on-budget, with the effective partnership 
between SWSPHN and SWSLHD, strong engagement from 
contributing GPs, central to that success.
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INTEGRATION

Joint Diabetes Planning 
 
In 2019, between 60,000 and 80,000 South Western Sydney 
(SWS) residents are living with diabetes and this number is 
steadily growing.  
 
In response, in 2018-19 SWSPHN and South Western 
Sydney Local Health District have partnered for the first 
time to develop an integrated diabetes plan for the region to 
address this significant health concern. 

If current trends continue, more than 150,000  
of our residents may be living with  

diabetes by 2031

GPs, specialists, diabetes nurses, non-government agencies 
and community representatives have been engaged during 
the last financial year to identify the services and care the 
SWSLHD and primary care need to deliver in South Western 
Sydney across the spectrum of diabetes – from identifying 
people who need a diagnosis through to treatment 
management. 

The plan outlines a new approach to the delivery of 
integrated diabetes care across our region and describes 
how diabetes services in South Western Sydney will be 
developed and expanded during the next five years.  
 
SWSPHN will continue to deliver endocrinology case 
conferencing services to GPs, with an expansion to include a 
hotline for specialist advice and GP clinical reference groups.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health 

The Integrated Team Care Program aims to support 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander residents who have 
complex chronic conditions.
 
The program is funded by South Western Sydney PHN and 
delivered by South Western Sydney Local Health District’s 
(LHD) Aboriginal Chronic Care team.   

Currently the program has more than 700  
clients enrolled, with more than 15,000 care 

coordination and supplementary  
services provided 

Through the program. the Local Health District provides 
continued support to clients across all seven local 
government areas in our region and maintains established 
linkages with acute and primary care. This includes Tharawal 
AMS, Gandangara Health Services and mainstream primary 
care providers. 

Currently the program has more than 700 clients 
enrolled, with more than 15,000 care coordination and 
supplementary services provided.
 
There were 148 new clients referred into the Integrated 
Team Care program during this financial year by local GPs.  
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SWSPHN commissions a range of drug and 
alcohol treatment services based on the 
needs of our community. 

We work with the local drug and alcohol sector, GPs and 
community to co-design new services that build on existing 
local services, and work with existing providers to tailor 
services to meet the unique needs of our region.
 

Community-based Treatment Services

Odyssey House provides community group-based detox for 
clients entering detox and for clients post residential detox 
at Campbelltown, Fairfield and Wingecarribee.  In 2018/19, 
the service received 1169 new referrals and 798 treatment 
episodes were commenced.

Drug Health Before and Aftercare Services

St Vincent De Paul Society provides before and aftercare 
drug health services. Before care is a stepped care approach 
in preparation for six-week, non-residential rehabilitation. 
After care includes individual plans developed for clients who 
have successfully completed a rehabilitation program.   

The service is provided at Campbelltown, Liverpool, Fairfield 
and mobile services were available and received 132 new 
referrals to before care services and 40 new referrals to 
after care services. In this period, 90 PHN-funded before 
care episodes commenced and 34 PHN-funded after care 
services commenced.

Complex Support Needs - Rendu House 

St Vincent De Paul Society provides the Rendu House 12-
week non-residential complex support needs day program 
for co-occurring drug and alcohol and mental health 
patients. Its three stages include entry, core program and 
transition stages.  
 
The service, provided at Campbelltown, with outreach 
services at various locations, received 108 new referrals for 
pre-care support and 23 new referrals to after care support, 
with 87 total episodes commencing in 2018-19. 

Integration building stronger drug and alcohol 
treatment and support services  

Psychological Counselling and Support

The Salvation Army provides Headfyrst, psychosocial 
counselling and support for 12 to 25-year-olds, in 
collaboration with headspace.  Treatment includes 
assessment, three hours of care coordination, 
intervention and education sessions (up to 12 sessions 
over a three to nine-month period) at headspace centres 
at Bankstown, Campbelltown and Liverpool.

Follow-on Youth Recovery

The Salvation Army provides FYRST (Follow on Youth 
Recovery Support Team), an after care, outreach 
support service for 12 to 25-year-olds.  

The service provides care and recovery coordination 
for transitioning to a positive and healthy lifestyle with 
informal counselling and education workshops, delivered 
at Liverpool and Fairfield. Both Salvation Army services 
combined received 313 new referrals, and 209 treatment 
episodes were commenced.

Bilingual Drug and Alcohol Counselling 

DAMEC provided AOD counselling and psychology 
services for CALD communities (Vietnamese, Arabic and 
Chinese), care management plans, exit from treatment 
including referrals to other services, and professional 
development training.  The services were provided at 
Liverpool, Fairfield, Bankstown and Campbelltown. It 
received 432 referrals and 205 treatment episodes were 
commenced.

Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Treatment 

Tharawal Aboriginal Corporation provided drug and 
alcohol treatment services for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people who don’t access mainstream 
services. The team takes a holistic, social and emotional 
wellbeing approach.  

Activities include assessment; treatment plan; brief 
intervention; withdrawal management; therapeutic 
services and after care services at Tharawal, GP 
practices, the client’s home and other agency sites. 
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SWSPHN is leading the way in ensuring 
new graduates, returning and transitioning 
nurses are well prepared to work in the 
challenging and diverse practice nursing 
sector – the fastest growing area in 
healthcare. 

We are piloting the New to General Practice Nursing 
program in 2019, one of only two programs of its kind in 
Australia.  

The program aims to upskill the practice nurse workforce by 
providing access to continuing professional development 
events, and practical online education and resources.  
 
SWSPHN’s Clinical Support team of registered nurses also 
provide support and mentoring via phone, email and in-
practice. The program has the official endorsement of the 
University of Wollongong.

More than 360 practice nurses work within our region.
Increasingly new graduate nurses are transitioning to 
general practice with little to no primary care preparedness 
at the undergraduate level or clinical experience.
 
Those transitioning from acute care nursing in hospitals 
are often also unprepared for the unique role of practice 
nurses as patient carers, organisers, quality controllers 
and improvement agents, problem solvers, educators and 
agents of connectivity.
 
They can feel uncertain about their role and scope, and 
isolated as they are often the only nurse in a general 
practice. SWSPHN recognised this gap and looked for ways 
we could prepare nurses for general practice. 

The New to General Practice Nursing program captures 
and nurtures the different knowledge and skills a practice 
nurse requires and will ultimately lead to improved patient 
wellbeing through prevention, early intervention and self-
management of chronic conditions, and a reduced burden 
on acute care. 

The program is being piloted with 10 new nursing graduates 
who are receiving training and mentoring over a 12-month 
period. 

INNOVATION

New graduate nurses now supported to make 
the transition into general practice

Those transitioning from acute care  
nursing in hospitals are often also unprepared  

for the unique role of practice nurses as  
patient carers, organisers, quality controllers 

 and improvement agents, problem solvers, 
educators and agents of connectivity

It currently covers seven learning modules which include: 
immunisation, cold chain/vaccine management; infection 
prevention and control/sterilisation; chronic disease 
management; registers, reminders and recalls; preventive 
health screening and assessment; and clinical activities – 
spirometry, ECG, wound management, triage, procedures, 
advanced skills. 

Practice nurses are required to submit a minimum of one 
activity checklist and competency checklist per month from 
the online learning modules. 

SWSPHN has received positive feedback from the 
program’s participants who are enjoying the flexibility of 
doing the course at their own pace, access to on-the-spot 
content and the practicality of the content to their everyday 
workload.  

Our program builds on the Brisbane South PHN model and 
with an interactive component and relevant content, it is 
already attracting interest from other PHNs. 
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SWSPHN is committed to innovation 
and ambitious integration and our iRAD 
program – which enables GPs, hospitals 
and specialists to share meaningful clinical 
information in real-time – is not only 
testament to that vision and commitment 
but has the potential to revolutionise 
healthcare.

iRAD (Integrated Real-time Active Data) is Australia’s 
first truly interoperable health platform – reliably sharing 
information between providers who use different computer 
systems in different locations.  

SWSPHN designed and developed, iRAD enables a 
comprehensive picture of the patient’s medical history to be 
accessed 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 

Four general practices across South Western Sydney are 
currently using iRAD and have cited benefits including time 
saved in sharing information with external care teams and 
easy access to patient information from other systems. 

In other parts of the world, interoperable solutions like iRAD 
have improved health outcomes, and provider and patient 
satisfaction, reduced duplicate blood and radiology tests, 
and reduced emergency visits and costs. 

INNOVATION

Radical game-changer for health integration 
developed in South Western Sydney

iRAD is Australia’s first truly interoperable 
 health platform
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Information sharing in real-time reducing 
burden on clinicans and patients 

iRAD, driven by dbMotion software, reduces gaps in 
information needed to provide patients with high quality 
care, reduces the need for patients to repeat themselves 
and reduces the time spent following up missing 
information. 

It is easy to use, with single-sign-on functionality to 
automatically login clinicians.  

The integration with the chosen practice software provides 
access to additional, meaningful information in a small pop-
up window on top of their patient record.  

Notifications prompt the clinicians to view care details 
recorded in other iRAD-connected locations in the  
past 30 days.  

Information available includes: medications, allergies, 
pathology and radiology results, immunisations, conditions 
(current and past), consultation dates and documents. 
Access to My Health Record is also integrated into the 
onscreen ‘agent’.    

Another benefit of iRAD is its presentation. The data 
presented is a single, clear view of a patient’s key clinical 
information, and is specific to ‘domain’ rather than requiring 
GPs to mine through documents.  
 
Clinicians can see a longitudinal patient record which 
collates data from each contributing source.  

In addition, there is no ongoing effort to maintain the data 
that’s being shared – it’s done automatically after the patient 
has consented.  

Consent is at practice level giving patients a greater 
ability to opt-in and opt-out and to control who sees what 
information. 

The benefits of improved connectivity are also substantial 
for patients who no longer have to recall and repeat their 
previous medical interactions with each clinician they see.  

Users of clinical information can have greater trust in the 
information being provided peer-to-peer. It will improve 
access to the right care, in the right place at the right time. 

iRAD is of particular benefit to elderly patients on multiple 
medications, those with a complex medical history or are  
in trauma who struggle to recall their clinical history,  
children who live in multiple households and see different 
GPs for care, and patients with low health literacy and  
language barriers.

INNOVATION
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Enabling a healthier community that 
achieves the best possible outcomes is 
core to much of the work we do at South 
Western Sydney PHN. 

Keeping the community healthy means both commissioning 
services that meet local need as well as providing tools to 
help improve the health literacy of all residents.

None of this would be possible without partnering with 
our local community in the planning, development, 
implementation and evaluation of our services.

CONNECTING WITH COMMUNITY

Striving for a healthier community 

Since its launch, 282 people have registered  
for HealthChat and site has had more  

than 2260 visits

HealthChat - a new online community 
engagement portal  

We’ve provided a new forum for locals to help shape the 
future of healthcare in our region with the development of 
an online platform in 2018-19 dedicated to listening to the 
thoughts, opinions and ideas of our community.

HealthChat was launched in May 2019 and has already 
supported community consultation around the 
development of our five-year Regional Mental Health and 
Suicide Prevention Plan and facilitated feedback from locals 
about their After Hours medical care experience. 

Consumers, healthcare providers, community groups, non-
government organisations and residents can have their say 
on improving the health of our region by: registering to come 
along to our community forums; sharing their thoughts 
online via our ‘South Western Sydney’s Community Views’ 
section; joining our committees; and commenting on our 
‘Sharing your healthcare journey’ section. 

We’re also keeping our HealthChat subscribers up-to-date 
on health topics of interest.

Recovery Point mental health app 

Recovery Point provides quick and easy access to online 
mental health information for people needing support, their 
friends and family. 
 
It was developed and launched in September 2017 to 
improve health literacy and access to local information and 
resources.  

Recovery Point has information about common mental 
illnesses, the different types of mental health professionals, 
emergency or crisis support, local mental health services, 
helplines, telephone and online counselling and support, 
online self-help tools, local consumer networks and 
additional information specific to young people.  

It also provides a comprehensive directory of local programs 
and services. It can be accessed online by searching  
recoverypoint.org.au or the free app can be downloaded to 
android or iOS devices by searching “Recovery Point’’. 
 
In 2018-19, 9,804 people accessed the Recovery Point 
website and the app was downloaded 480 times.

NewAccess - self help mental health 
support 

Developed by Beyond Blue, NewAccess is a free mental 
health coaching program for anyone who is feeling stressed, 
anxious or overwhelmed about everyday life issues such as 
work, study, relationships, health or loneliness. 
 
Services are delivered by specially trained NewAccess 
coaches face-to-face or via phone. No referral is needed for 
this low intensity intervention which is delivered by Bolton 
Clarke. In 2018-19, 277 clients accessed the service on 
1,074 occasions.

Since its launch, 282 people have registered for HealthChat 
and the site has had more than 2260 visits. 

To register and find out more information about HealthChat 
visit www.healthchat.swsphn.com.au

http://www.healthchat.swsphn.com.au 
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Partnering with Tharawal

SWSPHN continued to partner with Tharawal Aboriginal 
Medical Service to deliver drug and alcohol and social and 
emotional  wellbeing services tailored to the needs of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community. 

The service has gone from strength to strength and is an 
example of the importance of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander leadership in the design and delivery of services for 
the community.

Improving access to mainstream primary 
care services 

We delivered cultural awareness training to 50 general 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health 
is a key priority for SWSPHN and our aim 
is to close the gap between Aboriginal and 
non-Aboriginal Australians’ life expectancy.   

We strive to do this by improving access to culturally 
sensitive primary care services and support for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

In 2018-19, our Integrated Health team undertook a 
number of approaches to improve Aboriginal health. 

Aboriginal health - a community approach
practice staff which aimed to improve the health of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples by enhancing 
the cultural awareness of GPs, nurses, practice staff,  
medical students, primary health staff and other healthcare 
providers. 

The Indigenous Chronic Disease Package was  
promoted face-to-face in more than 

 70 mainstream general practices, with  
more than 200 staff participating

The training provides the platform for general practice staff 
to extend their knowledge about Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander history and culture, explore how attitudes 
and values can influence perceptions, assumptions and 
behaviours in a clinical setting, and discuss key ways the 
practice team can be more culturally sensitive.  

It is designed to assist those in the healthcare space 
be culturally respectful and sensitive to the history and 
trauma experienced by many of our community members, 
providing a safe space, and reducing barriers to accessing 
services by mainstream providers. 

The Indigenous Chronic Disease Package was also 
promoted face-to-face in more than 70 mainstream 
general practices, with more than 200 staff participating. 
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Aboriginal Health Assessment (MBS 715)

Promotion of the uptake of the MBS 715 continues to be a 
major focus for SWSPHN. 

Activities included promotion to general practices, 
community, the NSWPHN Aboriginal Health Network and 
the ACI Aboriginal Chronic Conditions Network – raising 
the awareness of the importance of the 715 Health 
Assessment – sharing resources and projects. 

Indigenous Eye Health

An application to the Rural Doctors Network for the Visiting 
Optometrist Scheme (VOS) for the Wingecarribee Shire was 
approved and the service has commenced in 2018-19. 
 
The ophthalmology surgical pathway between the VOS 
optometrist in Campbelltown and Miller continued and the 
Bowral pathway has now been established. 
 
These services mean our Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples have improved access to eye health 
services with minimal wait times. 
 
This financial year, our participation on the Indigenous Eye 
Health State Advisory Group has also allowed the SWSPHN 
to have greater input at regional meetings in identifying 
service gaps, codesigning local services and simplifying the 
process for feedback to the State Advisory Group. 

Clontarf project – planning and co-design 

The Clontarf Foundation project began in two local high 
schools this financial year. 

The Clontarf Foundation exists to improve the education, 
discipline, self-esteem and employment prospects of young 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men and equips them 
to participate more meaningfully in society.   

A joint project team was established between SWSPHN, 
Clontarf, Tharawal AMS and other partners and included: 
SWSLHD – Health Promotion Aboriginal Health Education 
Officer, Aboriginal Smoking Program; Youth Solutions; 
headspace/One Door Mental Health; Big Yellow Umbrella; 
and Tharawal staff such as the CEO, clinic manager, GPs, 
nurses and Aboriginal Health Workers.  

The project aims to identify and promote youth services 
within Macarthur, introduce participants to Tharawal 
AMS and its suite of services, and improve knowledge to 
empower youth to make better decisions, challenge health 
behaviours and define risky behaviours.
 
Activities included completion of the 715 health 
assessment and various workshops which focused on 
defining what a healthy relationship looks like ‘Love Bites’; 

30 participants attended the first event, and a 
second event is scheduled

alcohol and other drugs; smoking cessation workshops; how 
to become a role model, ‘Stronger Men’; the importance 
of self-respect and respecting others; being responsible; 
headspace and other mental health activities; and suicide 
awareness and prevention. 

Cancer screening  

Cancer screening participation rates in South Western 
Sydney are lower than the NSW average for breast, bowel 
and cervical cancers, and in particular within our Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander populations. 

This financial year our focus has been on community 
engagement and the promotion of the importance of 
screening. 

Activities were coordinated and cross-promoted with the 
Cancer Institute of NSW and Cancer Australia including 
the location of the BreastScreen NSW van. As part of the 
Cancer Institute of NSW/ PHN Network, we provide updates 
on the national programs and registers for cervical and 
bowel cancers. 

We’ve also established the Cancer Screening Project with 
Gandangara Health Service which aims to enhance the 
health literacy of the South Western Sydney Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander community by raising awareness of 
the importance of prevention and early detection through 
cancer screening. The project will commence in 2019-20 
financial year.
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In South Western Sydney, an estimated 10,513 
were living with dementia in 2016 and  

this is expected to grow by 84.2 per cent  
to 19,367 by 2031

Peace of Mind Project
  
SWSPHN developed the Peace of Mind Project in 2018-19 
to improve the end-of-life journey for people with dementia, 
their carers and families.  

Dementia is the leading cause of death among women and 
the second leading cause of death among all Australians. 

In South Western Sydney, an estimated 10,513 were living 
with dementia in 2016 and this is expected to grow by 84.2 
per cent  to 19,367 by 2031.

However, despite the prevalence of dementia, the condition 
is not well recognised as a terminal illness by community or 
health professionals in South Western Sydney, and people 
with dementia can find it difficult to access palliative care.

The Peace of Mind Project works to develop an integrated, 
person centred model of end-of-life planning and palliative 
care delivered in the place of their choice, increase timely 
diagnosis of dementia, promote early engagement with 
palliative care education,  promote early engagement with 
Advance Care Planning; to increase community health and 
death literacy, and develop an approach to Compassionate 
Communities. 

In 2018-19, SWSPHN worked with the Palliative Aged Care 
Consultancy Service (PACCS) to identify stakeholders and 
undertake stakeholder consultation, review literature and 
write a discussion paper. 
 

CONNECTING WITH COMMUNITY

Working groups were formed and PACCS facilitated 
meetings where members worked together to develop a 
vision and a model of improvement to guide ongoing work 
on the model of care development. 

We also hosted well-received information sessions during 
Advance Care Planning Week, 1 to 5 April, and Palliative 
Care Week, 19-25 May, to promote early engagement with 
palliative care education and Advance Care Planning, and to 
increase community health and death literacy. 

CPD educational opportunities on dementia, advance care 
planning and palliative care were also provided for GPs in 
2018-19, with more planned for 2020 to complement our 
community education activities.
  
Work has begun in 2019-20 on the Compassionate 
Communities element of the Peace of Mind Project, with 
PACCS developing and proposing a community partnership 
approach.
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An additional 25 English factsheets,18 translated 
factsheets and six audio translations were added 

to Health Resource Directory to bring the total 
number of factsheet variants available to 142

Keeping the community informed 

Our Communications team connects with our community, 
informing, educating and engaging residents, consumers 
and service providers through a variety of mediums 
including social media, community newsletters, our websites 
and local media. 

South Western Sydney PHN uses social media channels 
Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and Youtube to help improve 

the health literacy of our community by posting and sharing 
relevant content on a daily basis. 

SWSPHN’s community newsletter, Our Community Pulse, 
is distributed monthly to a subscriber base which continues 
to grow. The e-newsletter keeps our community up-to-date 
on health news with tips, information and activities across 
our region. It focuses on our regional priorities and highlights 
the work of the SWSPHN and its commissioned services.
 
Your Health Your Time Your Way, our community website 
implemented in 2017-18, continues to support our 
community in 2018-19 in accessing health information and 
education – when they need it, in their own way – online, 
through a GP or support service. 

We’ve delivered important health information via the media 
this financial year through media releases – on subjects 
including the launch of Connector Hub and ReFrame,  World 
Cancer Day and International Nurses Day – distributed to 
media including community newspapers and websites, and 
C91.3 radio station. 

In 2018-19 we’ve initiated a PHN column published monthly 
in the Macarthur Chronicle newspaper which allows us to 
highlight our regional priorities such as cancer screening and 
chronic disease, campaigns like After Hours medical care, 
online resources including Health Resource Directory and 
Recovery Point and PHN initiatives like our Reconciliation 
Action Plan and Dementia Action Week information session.

CONNECTING WITH COMMUNITY

Health Resource Directory  

Health Resource Directory continued to improve the health 
literacy of our community in 2018-19, with an additional 25 
English factsheets,18 translated factsheets and six audio 
translations added to bring the total number of factsheet 
variants available to 142.

The website, HealthResourceDirectory.org.au, was launched 
in 2017-18 to provide patients with easy access to reputable 
information on health conditions and local health services. 

The directory also supports GPs to educate their patients 
and improve health literacy by providing a range of GP peer 
and community reviewed health information and resources. 

Health Resource Directory contains a wide range of 
localised patient factsheets adapted from HealthPathways 
clinical content, and re-written in an easy-to-read format, 
which is available in English printed and audio formats, and 
translated into Arabic, Vietnamese, and Simplified Chinese, 
both printed and audio. 

Resouces listed on the factsheets are taken from the 
‘patient information’ sections of relevant HealthPathways, 
ensuring information provided to local residents is 
consistent with local clinical practice. 
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In 2018/19, the  Community Advisory  
Committee consulted on  15 major  

SWSPHN projects 

Meaningful engagement and strong long-
term partnerships ensure our planning is 
robust and the services we commission 
are innovative, truly integrated and support 
local health needs. 

Establishing partnerships and maintaining engagement 
enables the collective sharing of evidence and, local 
knowledge and business intelligence by key stakeholders.

Working with our partners to counter fragmentation in the 
health system will ensure all local residents achieve the best 
possible health outcomes.

PARTNERSHIPS & ENGAGEMENT

Sharing knowledge and know-how to improve 
the health outcomes of local residents 

Community Advisory Committee 
 
Our Community Advisory Committee (CAC) has continued 
to go from strength to strength under the leadership of our 
Chair Larry Whipper, and Deputy Chair, Cath Brennan.

The committee provides a community perspective on the 
work of the PHN and each member is connected to a wide 
array of invaluable local networks which ensure the needs of 
the community are always front of mind.

In 2018/19, the committee consulted on 15 major SWSPHN 
projects including regional diabetes planning and joint 
regional mental health planning, Medical Neighbourhood, 
iRAD, My Health Record and our Stakeholder Engagement 
Framework.

The Community Advisory Committee was integral in 
the creation and launch of SWSPHN’s online community 
engagement portal HealthChat, providing guidance and 
advice on its set up and guiding the development of ongoing 
consultation topics. 

The committee also provides oversight on the Health 
Resource Directory patient factsheets, diligently checking 
and endorsing each factsheet to ensure they meet 
community expectations.
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Local Health Councils  

South Western Sydney PHN’s six Local Health Councils 
support our Community Advisory Committee and Clinical 
Council and provide a place-based perpective to our 
projects.

The Local Health Councils meeting quarterly in Bankstown, 
Fairfield, Liverpool, Campbelltown, Camden and now 
Wingecarribee and are all led by a local GP chair. Membership 
on the health councils comprises a mix of GPs, practice 
nurses, practice managers, allied health, hospital general 
managers and hospital representatives, academics, NGO 
representatives, carers and consumers and local council 
representatives.

With such a broad range of stakeholders at the one table, 
Local Health Councils foster a supportive and collaborative 
environment allowing for robust discussion and innovative 
ideas.

Clinical Council  

The South Western Sydney PHN Clinical Council is our 
peak clinical governance advisory committee and with our 
Community Advisory Committee, is one of two committees 
mandated by the Australian Government Department of 
Health.  

The council, comprising a GP from each Local Health 
Council, a practice nurse, allied health, community 
advocates, Board representation and representatives from 
the South Western Sydney Local Health District, in 2018-19 
continued to provide governance and leadership on clinical 
concerns within our organisation. 
 
The council also provides locally relevant perspectives on 
clinical issues that impact on the unique needs of our local 
communities.  

The Clinical Council this year supported our work by 
providing input on HealthPathways, feedback on our region’s 
GP workforce, approving clinical governance policies for 
our mental health programs and providing vital feedback on 
our Joint Regional Diabetes Plan and Joint Regional Mental 
Health Plan.

Active Breed  

Following last year’s successful pilot program, SWSPHN 
joined forces with the Canterbury Bankstown Bulldogs and 
Western Sydney University for the second year of the Active 
Breed Program in 2018-19.

Active Breed is a 12-week program for men aged 35 to 
64, focusing on encouraging participants to improve their 
physical and mental health and lose weight through a series 
of weekly education and exercise sessions.

Topics include weight loss, physical activity, diet, mental 
health and violence prevention.

The sessions are held at or around Belmore Sports Ground 
and are run by health experts, Active Breed coaches and 
Bulldogs legends.

SWSPHN’s Mental Health Manager and accredited Mental 
Health First Aid trainer, Christopher Jones, provides the 
mental health component of the program and aims to equip 
participants with practical tools to acknowledge and combat 
stress and emerging mental health issues, and importantly 
to have confidence in knowing where and how to seek help 
if needed.

Active Breed provides a great avenue to increase mental 
health literacy, develop individual and peer support 
strategies and become familiar with the mental health 
services offered across South Western Sydney.
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Health Alliances leveraging partnership potential 

2018-19 has been a productive year for 
Health Alliances, with highlights including 
the trialing of video consultations in 
Wollondilly, a NSW Government grant to 
develop a gambling harm screening tool in 
Fairfield City and the formation of the new 
Western Sydney Health Alliance.  

SWSPHN has partnered with the South Western Sydney 
Local Health District and the relevant local governments on 
the health alliances which aim to deliver on our vision of a 
healthier population with better access to quality healthcare.

Western Sydney Health Alliance

The exciting new Western Sydney Health Alliance was 
formed in 2018-19 as a priority in the Western Sydney  
City Deal.

The Western Sydney City Deal is a 20-year partnership 
between the three levels of government and aims to 
transform Western Sydney through investment and 
planning reform, improving access to employment, housing, 
health, education and liveability.

The partnership between SWSPHN, the South Western 
Sydney Local Health District and five councils within our 
region, the Nepean Blue Mountains PHN, the Nepean Blue 
Mountains Local Health Disctrict and three council’s within 
that region will focus on four priorities: keeping active; 
access to healthy food; liveability and connections; and 
access to health and wellbeing services. 

Moving forward, the Alliance will provide a cohesive voice for 
planning and advocating for health in the key growth area of 
Western Sydney. 

The new alliance takes the premise of  
the Wollondilly and Fairfield City Health  

Alliances and applies it across the  
Western Sydney region

Wollondilly Health Alliance
 
The Wollondilly Health Alliance is now in its fifth year and 
continues to make a real difference in the rural community 
through its three streams of work – the Care Process group, 
the Health Promotion group and the Health in Planning 
group. 

The Care Process group has initiated the use of telehealth 
which provides patients who present to general practices in 
Wollondilly with access to specialists via video consultations. 

The Health Promotion group has supported the 
development of Project Grow, a community garden at 
Bargo, and engaged with the Aboriginal community to 
undertake art projects with a health focus.  

The Health in Planning group is working to ensure health 
is embedded in the planning of the shire’s new estates like 
Wilton Junction.

Fairfield City Health Alliance

The Fairfield Health Alliance was formed in 2017-18 to 
address the health priorities of the city’s diverse population, 
close to 70 per cent of whom speak a language other than 
English at home.  

Following consultation with the alliance organisations, 
community members and other groups, three health 
priorities were identified in Fairfield: Gambling, Health 
Literacy and General Practice Capacity.

The alliance working groups have focused on hepatitis 
C testing and treatment, anti-microbial prescribing and 
community education about antibiotic over-usage, and 
developed health literacy events around mental health and 
diabetes care.

Last year the Fairfield Health Alliance was successful in 
gaining a grant through the Office of Responsible Gambling 
for a project to address gambling harm in the city, which 
has low income levels  but one of the highest numbers of 
gaming machines per capita.
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Power of partnerships reducing barriers to 
accessing appropriate mental healthcare  

No Wrong Door  

The No Wrong Door Initiative brings together government, 
non-government and community managed organisations 
to reduce barriers and enhance supports for people living 
with severe and complex mental illness, as well as their 
carers and families. 
 
There are four key principles which underpin the initiative. 

•  Acknowledging that people with mental illness are  
    entitled to human rights that inform all service delivery
•  Acknowledging the barriers to social and service 
    inclusion for people with severe and persistent mental 
    illness with complex needs and that they will require 
    extra resources and skills to ensure they do not fall  
    through the gaps
•  Using recovery-oriented practices
•  Actively participate in creating an integrated and 
    coordinated service system for people’s mental  
    health and recovery. 

The initiative builds the capacity of, and collaboration 
between services which engage with people with a severe 
mental illness. 

The flow-on impacts for consumers are also significant. An 
integrated, recovery-focused sector ensures consumers 
receive wraparound services without falling through the 
gaps as they move between them. 

The No Wrong Door Initiative strengthens the work 
SWSPHN does in mental health by providing opportunities 
to develop workforce skills and to improve collaboration 
between mental health services.

PARTNERSHIPS & ENGAGEMENT

Recovery College 

The South Western Sydney Recovery College has been 
funded by SWSPHN in partnership with One Door Mental 
Health and is delivered by Macarthur Disability Services. 
 
The Recovery College model is not a new concept. Recovery 
Colleges exist both nationally and internationally, with the 
model developed in the United Kingdom.  

Recovery Colleges provide education platforms that bring 
together consumers, carers and service providers to enable 
self-directed recovery and learning opportunities.  

Recovery Colleges are based on the community college 
model, with co-production central to the structure. 
Therefore, people with lived experience of mental illness 
are involved in every aspect of course development and 
delivery.

The SWS Recovery College aims to provide education 
programs that support recovery, build confidence, 
independence and the personal and professional capacity of 
those who engage with the college.
The SWS Recovery College is being delivered across South 
Western Sydney through term-based courses, workshops 
and pop-ups.  

Courses commenced in July 2019 and have included Buried 
in Treasure, Tree of Life, Understanding Recovery and Taking 
Care of You.

An integrated, recovery-focused sector ensures 
consumers receive wraparound services without 

falling through the gaps as they move  
between them
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Our Experience Matters Committee 
informing Mental Health commissioning  

Our Experience Matters is SWSPHN’s mental health 
reference group, made up of consumers and carers within 
the region with lived mental health experience.  
 
The eight-member advisory committee holds bi-monthly 
meetings to provide their opinions and advice on the design, 
implementation, evaluation and monitoring of locally 
tailored mental health services. 
 
In 2018-19, the committee contributed to a number of 
key mental health projects including the regional planning 
consultations for mental health and suicide prevention,  the 
Lived Experience Framework Grant Application and the 
Mental Health Lived Experience Engagement Network.

They also provided feedback on the No Wrong Door 
initiative,  Consultant Psychiatry Service, Mental Health 
Commission Living Well Mid-Term Review, Connector 
Hub and Recovery College service development and the 
upcoming 2019 Mental Health Symposium.

Connector Hub 
 
In 2018-19, SWSPHN commissioned Connector Hub, a 
flexible new psychosocial service helping to bridge the gap 
for people with severe mental illness who are not eligible for 
the National Disability Insurance Scheme. 
 
The service was launched in March 2019 and is delivered 
by One Door Mental Health, in partnership with Flourish 
Australia. 
 
Connector Hub’s participants benefit from non-clinical 
individualised support with mental health recovery workers 
and peer workers (people with lived experience of mental 
illness).

To date, more than 80 referrals have been made to 
Connector Hub, with the program aiming  
to support more than 300 mental health 

consumers across South Western Sydney

Connector Hub offers a number of structured individual 
and group-based activities forging social connections and 
improving health and wellbeing.  

Connector Hub was developed after SWSPHN received 
funding from the Department of Health under the National 
Psychosocial Support Measure in 2018.  

Anyone – consumers, carers, service providers or health 
professionals – can refer to Connector Hub by completing 
the psychosocial referral form on our website or calling 
Mental Health Intake on 1300 797 746.  
 
To date, more than 80 referrals have been made to 
Connector Hub, with the program aiming to support more 
than 300 mental health consumers across South Western 
Sydney. 



48

SWSPHN uses the stepped care model 
of mental health support to ensure local 
residents receive the right care no matter 
what their need is.

Our stepped care model was designed after extensive 
consultation with relevant stakeholders and consumers and 
carers living in the local community.  

The stepped care model guides GPs and our other 
approved referrers, with the support of our central intake 
team, to determine the best service to suit each individual’s 
needs, supporting you to move up and down stepped care 
services as required.

Connect for Wellness   

Connect for Wellness, delivered by Wellways Australia, is 
a unique program integrating peer support workers with 
psychological services.  

PARTNERSHIPS & ENGAGEMENT

New local services fill mental healthcare gaps  

The program aims to address the gap in supports for people 
with severe and persistent mental illness who are not 
suitable for mild to moderate or acute services.

The service enables a soft entry point into primary mental 
healthcare for people who normally do not engage with 
mental health services. It also aims to reduce the need for 
hospital stays by providing ongoing clinical and non-clinical 
supports.  

Peer workers in particular, use their own lived experience to 
assist consumers in navigating the system and in developing 
a sense of hope. 
 
In 2018-19, 246 people accessed the Connect for Wellness 
Program, with a total of 2,359 hours of sessions delivered. 
In total, 368 people have accessed the program over 2,590 
hours.
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PARTNERSHIPS & ENGAGEMENT

You in Mind

The You in Mind service provides free psychological 
therapies for people with mild to moderate mental health 
concerns who face barriers to accessing services through 
the Medicare Better Access Scheme.  
 
Services are delivered in a way that places the person at the 
centre of care and meets the unique needs of clients such 
as those living in semi-rural regions or those with culturally 
specific needs. 
 
You in Mind provides up to 12 hours of therapy per year 
delivered by a mental health professional (psychologist, 
mental health nurse, mental health accredited social worker 
or occupational therapist) and is available across South 
Western Sydney through face-to-face and phone-based 
support.
 
In 2018-19, 1,915 distinct clients were referred to the 
service, for an average of 4.7 session hours. A total of 1,973 
referrals were made to the service last financial year. 

Star4Kids

Star4Kids provides psychological therapies for children aged 
three to 12 with, or at risk of developing, a mental illness. 

Services are delivered by allied mental health professionals 
with experience and training in working with children.  
The four providers in South Western Sydney include: At 
Full Potential: Camden LGA, Wollondilly and Wingecarribee 
shires; Mission Australia: Liverpool LGA; ProActive 
Psychology Practice: Fairfield and Bankstown LGAs; and 
Sparrow Centre for Children: Campbelltown LGA.  

In 2018-19, 1,050 distinct clients benefited from the 
services over 5,120 session hours. 

headspace

headspace is a free service for young people aged 12 to 
25 years across four core streams including mental health, 
physical and sexual health, alcohol and other drugs, and 
work and study support.  

It has three centres in South Western Sydney at Bankstown, 
Campbelltown and Liverpool with services delivered 

by Flourish Australia, One Door Mental Health and the 
Benevolent Society respectively.  Young people can be 
referred or self-refer. In 2018-19, 2,633 clients accessed 
the service on 13,671 occasions.

ReFrame

ReFrame, a free service for 12-to-25-year-olds living in 
the Wollondilly and Wingecarribee shires, gives young 
people the tools they need to make important and practical 
decisions about their mental health.  
 
The service, commissioned by SWSPHN and delivered by 
Community Links Wellbeing, was launched in late 2018.  

It addresses a significant service gap for young people who 
previously needed to travel to Campbelltown to access free 
youth-focused primary mental healthcare.  
 
Services are delivered by youth engagement workers and 
youth mental health professionals who provide information 
and support to young people who are having a tough time 
managing stress, anxiety or worry, feelings of sadness, 
physical health, family and relationships, study or work. 

 Young people can be referred or self-refer, and walk-in 
centres are located at Bowral and Tahmoor.  

In 2018-19, 212 distinct clients accessed the service over 
788 session hours.
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SWSPHN and South Western Sydney Local 
Health District (SWSLHD) came together 
for the first time in 2018-19 to assess and 
plan for the mental health needs of people 
living in our region for the next five years. 
 
Regional mental health planning is Priority 1 in The Fifth 
National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Plan. 

Regional plans will assist with supporting service 
integration; providing clarity of responsibilities; improving 
communication and collaboration between stakeholders, 
service providers, and those accessing supports; and 
reducing gaps and inefficiencies in the sector across the 
region. 

During the past year, SWSPHN and SWSLHD have worked 
together to form a steering committee – including GPs, 
people with lived experience of mental illness, those who 
provide support and representatives of key community 
organisations like Lifeline – to develop regional planning 
priority areas, and engage with the community in co-design 
workshops and brainstorming sessions.

Regional approach for mental health planning 

The committee hosted 10 regional planning 
workshops across South Western Sydney with 

more than 200 attendees – including people 
who live, work, go to school, and access health 

services in our region – participating in sessions 
and providing input

This consultation has been essential to the development 
of the plan which must reflect and accurately capture the 
needs, ideas, and perspectives of all areas of the South 
Western Sydney community be effective.  
 
The ultimate goal of the regional mental health plan is 
a better experience and outcome for those accessing 
services and supports in our region. 

The steering committee, and executive level staff from 
the SWSPHN and SWSLHD, are currently reviewing the 
actions proposed through the consultation process before 
it progresses to a more refined draft. The plan is on-track to 
be finalised before the due date of mid-2020. 
 
Guiding a national PHN Regional Planning 
Network 

Another highlight for SWSPHN in 2018-19, was its selection 
as one of two co-chairs to support and guide a national 
PHN Regional Planning Network. The other co-chair is 
South Eastern Melbourne PHN which SWSPHN has worked 
collaboratively with to host five successful national-level 
PHN Regional Planning meetings.  
 
The meetings have been both in person and via 
teleconference, and covered topics including engaging and 
integrating the lived experience perspective into planning; 
utilising the National Mental Health Service Planning 
Framework; suicide prevention; and several other priority 
areas.

PHNs have had the opportunity to present case studies, 
share learnings, and hear best practice approaches from 
subject matter experts during the meetings. The network 
will continue to meet over the coming years to assist with 
finalising and implementing regional plans. 
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PARTNERSHIPS & ENGAGEMENT

D&A and MH Roundtables  

SWSPHN helped connect the region’s mental health and 
drug and alcohol service providers at three roundtable 
meetings across the region in 2018-19.

Our mental health and drug and alcohol needs assessments 
have found local residents often present to general practice 
or specialised mental health or drug and alcohol services 
with co-occurring needs but many local services were 
unable to cater for all needs and some were unaware of the 
services available in the region for people with complex co-
morbidities.

 The roundtables include 18 participants from organisations 
including: One Door Health Care; Community Links 
Wollondilly; Youth off the Streets; Wellways; Mission 
Australia; South Western Sydney Local Health Disctrict; St 
Vincent De Paul – Rendu House; Odyssey House; DAMEC; 
Tharawal Aboriginal Corporation; Karitane; and Dokotela.

The roundtable brings together key stakeholders who 
support people experiencing mental health and/or drug and 
alcohol issues. Together, we work on developing effective 
strategies to tackle these comorbid issues and improve 
outcomes for this vulnerable population group while 
increasing the capacity of our workforce.

Meetings have included guest speakers such as a Mental 
Health Nurse Practitioner who talked about their work 

in supporting consumers with co-morbidities and 
presentations from SWSPHN staff about our commissioned 
services and other supports and resources.

Discussion also centres around effective strategies of 
care for Comorbid Mental Illness and Illicit Substance Use, 
this includes; further workforce education and training 
opportunities, problems that workers face and what actions 
to overcome these barriers

Together, we work on developing effective 
strategies to tackle these comorbid issues 
and improve outcomes for this vulnerable 
population while increasing the capacity 

 of our workforce

The roundtables gave participants the opportunity to learn 
more about the other services available in the region, to 
network and discuss referral pathways and options, with the 
aim of improving services and support for people with drug 
and alcohol, and mental health co-morbidity. 

A fourth roundtable meeting has been scheduled for 31 
October 2019.
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The SWSPHN workforce is made up of 
68 hard-working and passionate people, 
delivering a diverse range of services across 
the region. 

Our team is 75 per cent female and 25 per cent male. During 
the past 12 months we welcomed 16 new starters and 
farewelled eight colleagues.  

With a retention rate of 90 per cent, SWSPHN prides 
itself on creating and maintaining a friendly, supportive 
and flexible workplace culture that promotes high quality 
service delivery with opportunities for both personal and 
professional growth.

CORPORATE  CITIZENSHIP

Making a difference in our community

76.3 per cent of SWSPHN staff are engaged, 
 a 9.3 per cent increase compared to the  

previous survey in 2017

 
Staff culture survey 

The ‘Pulse Check’ staff survey held in February this year 
reflected SWSPHN’s culture of success, highlighting our ‘can 
do’ mentality and our close-knit, cohesive and focused team 
of staff.

Fourteen PHNs took part in the national benchmarking 
survey which focused on engagement and organisational 
culture, and was coordinated by Best Practice Australia.

Ninety-five per cent of staff responded to the survey which 
showed 76.3 per cent of staff are engaged, a 9.3 per cent 
increase compared to the previous survey in 2017.  

Our best scoring responses were around flexible work 
and equality, with 75 per cent of employees agreeing that 
SWSPHN is a ‘truly great place to work’. 

SWSPHN rated strongly against the PHN average in the 
three areas of Leadership Landscape, Our Values, Identity 
and Direction. We rated above the PHN average on 78 
questions; on the average in 4 questions; and below the 
average only 5 questions.

The results of the survey have been used to drive activities, 
decisions and projects at SWSPHN in 2019, including 
in the development of an action plan with strategies to 
‘Keep Doing, Stop Doing, Start Doing’ which have been 
implemented this year and will continue to be a focus in the 
coming year. 
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CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP 

ISO certification  

The SWSPHN team started 2019 on a high note, having 
achieved ISO 9001 quality certification against international 
standards after the completion of our Stage 2 audit in 
December last year.

This significant whole-of-organisation achievement was 
achieved after only three years as a PHN. 

Demonstrating our commitment to continuous 
improvement, the certification affirms that we are building 
a robust quality management system encompassing our 
governance; policies and procedures; planning; reporting; 
operations; and communications. 

Embracing our Reconciliation Action Plan  

The launch of our “Reflect” Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 
in January 2019 highlighted the importance our organisation 
places on improving the health outcomes of all communities 
and peoples, and in particular our Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples.  

SWSPHN staff are committed to our RAP, which is 
championed by our CEO who ensures all Executive and 
Senior Managers understand and align our operational 
practices with the strategies outlined in the RAP, and share 
the RAP vision and strategies with their teams.  

In 2018-19, In 2018-2019, 100 per cent of staff completed 
Cultural Awareness Training. 

The training allowed us to reflect on our values, beliefs 
and practices, and combined with our other RAP activities 
will ensure we increase our understanding, respect and 
acknowledgement of cultural protocols and processes for 
engaging with our communities. 

SWSPHN staff are committed to our 
Reconciliation Action Plan which is  

championed by our CEO

Strengths noted included: 
  • The Quality Management 
     System (QMS) is well integrated 
     across the organisation
  • The systems are being used 
      by staff
  • There is high engagement and  
     staff take pride in  their work
  • The Stakeholder Engagement  
      Framework is excellent
  • The quality reports are great
  • The blue plans are fantastic and  
     being used  organisation wide

Seven minor nonconformities were identified, which 
identified opportunities for improvement. Work on these 
minor nonconformities took place and progressed quickly 
during the first six months of this year. 

Marketing and promotion of the red quality standards 
mark (i.e. the five ticks) on the website, business cards, 
letterheads, brochures, powerpoint template and other 
relevant documentation has taken place.
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CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

Staff chipping in and giving back to local 
charities 

Fundraising and giving back to the community is important 
to all staff at South Western Sydney PHN.

All staff enthusiatically rally behind fundraising activities 
including Steptember (pictured below), Australia’s Biggest 
Morning Tea and the Dilly Drought Relief.

In 2018 SWSPHN introduced ‘casual Friday’ with all staff 
not attending official meetings donating a gold coin for the 
opportunity to wear mufti. 

At the end of that year we donated $595 to the Salvation 
Army (pictured above) which helped 20 families in crisis put 
food on the table and a gift under the tree at Christmas. 

In 2019, staff voted to support local charity Shining Stars 
through casual Friday and the Easter egg donation appeal.  
 
Shining Stars helps local people in crisis or sleeping rough by 
providing meals, toiletries, clean clothes and clean blankets.
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CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

Staff development and culture 
building

Staff had the opportunity to connect and 
be inspired at SWSPHN’s first all-staff 
development day as a PHN in 2018-19. 

The day started with an inspiring talk from guest 
speaker Luke Kennedy who motivated staff by 
sharing his  transformation from drug addict and 
criminal to successful businessman and author.

The all-day event also included activities delving into 
personal motivators, opportunities for staff to get to 
know each other and reflect on the significant change 
our organisation had experienced in the previous two 
years. 

All 22 water filters were built to the  
highest possible standard with many laughs 

shared along the way

The highlight of the day was the chance to participate in the 
charity team-building activity - assembling and donating a 
total of 22 life-saving water filtration systems for people in 
need in refugee camps in Uganda.

The activity was coordinated by the Water Works Program 
and teams were formed to build the filters using blindfolds 
and only following the directions of colleagues. All 22 water 
filters were built to the highest possible standard with many 
laughs shared along the way.
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A lead organisation enabling an effective, innovative and integrated health system for South Western 
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Dr Vince Roche
Mr Darryl Wright, AM
Mr Mark Allen

Chief Executive Officer
Dr Keith McDonald

Company Secretary
Ms Kristen Anne Short

Australian Business Number (ABN)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

Your Directors present this report to the members of South Western Sydney Primary Health Network 
Limited (SWSPHN) for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the company South Western Sydney Primary Health Network Limited is health 
administration and commissioning by supporting general practitioners and other primary care providers 
to improve the health of their patients.

Short-term objectives

• A healthier community;
• An informed and empowered community;
• A better health system experienced by General Practitioners and primary care providers;
• An integrated health system that is fit for purpose; and
• Primary health care that demonstrates value.

To achieve these short-term objectives we will enable our team, through the development of systemic 
enablers including:

• continuous improvement supported by ISO9000 accreditation
• the development of robust operational systems
• Alignment of our work with the PHN National Priority areas
• Supporting high performance through reward and recognition, professional development and

fostering a supportive, transparent and productive culture which is committed to service of our
communities.

Long-term objectives

Within the next 5 years the SWSPHN will enhance and connect primary health care so residents and 
patients achieve better health outcomes. We will enable our team to deliver strategic initiatives that 
address stakeholder needs in an effective and trusted way through transformative capacity building of 
primary care; ambitious integration with key partners; and intelligent commissioning of services. 
Planned activities include maturation of a robust, secure business intelligence framework; moving 
progressively towards outcome-based commissioning; further evolution of integrated place-based 
initiatives through formal health alliance agreements with local government and state-based agencies; 
implementing an evidence-based model of coordinated care for patients with chronic disease through 
co-commissioning and data linkage initiatives with the SWSLHD; and progressive adoption by practices 
of real-time interoperable clinical ICT solutions.

Review of operations

During 2018/19, the company continued to focus on supporting its stakeholders and all primary care 
providers to improve the health of our South Western Sydney community.

Performance Measurement

Performance is measured against delivering to our 5 strategic goals and the funding is primarily 
received from the Commonwealth Department of Health. SWSPHN in its third year of operations 
performed well against these criteria.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Results

For the year ended 30 June 2019, the company’s surplus was $35,065 (year ended 30 June 2018,
$31,520).

Dividend

As a Health Promotion Charity, SWSPHN is prohibited by its Constitution from declaring or paying 
dividends. Accordingly, no dividends were paid during the year and no recommendation is made to 
declare a dividend.

Directors

The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report 
unless otherwise stated are:

Director Date appointed Board Meetings
A B

Dr Matthew Gray 23 April 2015 6 6
Dr Anett Wegerhoff 23 April 2015 6 6
Dr Sayeed Khan 23 April 2015 6 5
Ms Amanda Larkin 23 April 2015 6 5
Professor Rhonda Griffith 23 April 2015 6 5
The Hon Craig Knowles 23 April 2015 6 6
Dr Vince Roche 23 April 2015 6 4
Mr Darryl Wright (resigned 29/8/19) 30 April 2015 6 3
Mr Mark Allen 28 May 2015 6 5

A – Number of meetings eligible to attend B – Number of meetings attended
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Directors’ Qualifications, Experience & Special Responsibilities 
 
Name Qualifications Experience Special Responsibilities 
Dr Matthew Gray B.Med 

(Newcastle), B.Ec, 
FRACGP and 
FAICD 

General Practitioner in Elderslie; 
Board Member, MDGP Inc (2003-
06); Board Member and Chair, 
MDGP Ltd (2006-11); Board Member 
and Chair, SSWGPL Ltd (2011-12); 
Board Member, SWSLHD (2013-
current); Member, AMA (NSW) 
Council (2013-2017); Fellow, 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 
 

SWSPHN Board Chair 
(2015–current); Member, 
SWSPHN Clinical Council; 
Member, SWSPHN 
Governance Committee 

Dr Anett 
Wegerhoff 

MBBS, 
DRANZCOG, 
FRACGP, and 
GAICD 

General Practitioner in Camden; 
Board Member, MDGP Inc (1996-
2006); Board Member, MDGP Ltd; 
SWSPHN Board Vice Chair (2015- 
current), Vice-Chair, SSWGPL Ltd 
(2011-12); Member, Acute Care 
Taskforce Executive, NSW Agency 
for Clinical Innovation; Graduate, 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 
 

Member, SWSPHN Audit 
and Risk Management  
Committee; Chair, SWS 
Integrated Care 
Committee.  
 

Dr Vince Roche Associate 
Professor, MBBS, 
DCH, DRCOG, 
DRANZCOG, 
FRACGP, 
FACRRM 

General Practitioner in 
Southern Highlands; Chair, Southern 
Highlands Division of General 
Practice (1994-1999, 2006-current); 
Board Member, Coast City Country 
GP Training (2007-current); Visiting 
Medical Officer, Corrections Health 
Service (1993-1999); Clinical 
Associate Professor, University of 
Wollongong (2011-current) 
 

Chair, SWSPHN, Audit 
and Risk Management 
Committee; Member 
Clinical Council 
 

Dr Sayeed Khan MBBS (University 
of Karachi, 
Pakistan), GAICD 

General Practitioner in 
Hammondville; Board Member, 
MDGP Ltd (2010-11); Board 
Member, SSWGPL Ltd (2011-12); 
Board Member, GP Synergy; Board 
Member, Australian Medical 
Cooperative Ltd; Conjoint lecturer at 
University of Western Sydney; 
Graduate, Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 
 

Member, SWSPHN 
Governance Committee; 
Member, SWSPHN 
Clinical Council; 
Member, SWS Integrated 
Care Committee; 

Ms Amanda 
Larkin 

Bachelor of Social 
Work; Associate 
Diploma 
Environmental 
Planning 

Chief Executive, South Western 
Sydney Local Health District; 
Previous General Manager positions 
in Bowral, Campbelltown and 
Camden Hospitals; Board Member, 
SWSPHN (2015-current); Member, 
Ingham Institute for Applied Medical 
Research Board; Member, UNSW 
Centre for Primary Care and Equity 
Advisory Committee. 

Member, SWSPHN Audit 
and Risk Management 
Committee 
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Name Qualifications Experience Special Responsibilities

Professor 
Rhonda Griffiths 
AM

RN, RM, B.Ed, 
MSc (Hons), PHD

Emeritus Professor – School of 
Nursing and Midwifery, University of 
Western Sydney; Director, 
Carrington Centennial Care Pty Ltd 
(2008-2018); Director, Australian 
Diabetes Council (1999-2010) (Vice 
President, 2000-05); Member, 
Diabetes Australia National Council 
(1992-99), (Vice President, 1994-96); 
Member, Australian Diabetes 
Educators National Council (1990-
96) (National President, 1992-94).

Member, Community 
Advisory Committee

The Hon Craig 
Knowles
AM

Fellow of the 
Australian 
Property Institute 
in both Land 
Evaluation and 
Land Economy 
and CPV

Member of NSW Legislative 
Assembly 1990-2005, holding 
positions of Minister Urban Affairs 
and Planning (1995-99), Minister for 
Health (1999-2003) and Minister for 
Infrastructure and Planning and 
Minister for Natural Resources
(2003-05).

Chair, SWSPHN 
Governance Committee,
Consul General and 
Senior Trade 
Commissioner

Mr Darryl Wright
AM

Diploma in Travel 
and Tourism and 
Diploma in 
Frontline 
Management

CEO Tharawal Aboriginal 
Corporation.

Mr Mark Allen Diploma of Law 
(Solicitors 
Admission Board)

Lawyer, Aperion Law Member, SWSPHN Audit 
and Risk Committee

Company Secretary

On 28 June 2018 (and until the date of this report) Ms Kristen Anne Short was appointed as Company 
Secretary. Ms Kristen Short has a Master of Business and Technology and has held senior positions 
with Hunter New England Central Coast Primary Health Network and in both the financial services and 
technology industries. Kristen has also completed The Board and the Company Secretary course with 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Transactions with Directors

No Director has received or become entitled to receive, during or since the end of the financial year, 
any other benefit because of a contract made by the company or a related body corporate with the 
director, a firm of which a director is a member, or an entity in which a director has a substantial financial 
interest, except as disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements. This statement excludes a benefit 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by directors shown in 
the accounts of the company.
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Transactions with Directors (continued)

The Directors have declared interests in contracts with SWSPHN that the organisations they represent, 
deal with SWSPHN in the ordinary course of business, by disclosing their interest before or at the first 
Board meeting after the director became so interested.

Indemnification and insurance of officers

During the year, SWSPHN paid premiums for professional indemnity and directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance for its Directors and Officers against claims arising from, or by reason of, any wrongful act 
committed by them in their capacity as Directors and Officers. This does not include such liabilities that 
arise from conduct involving a lack of good faith.

The nature of the insurance contract providing this cover does not allow the company to disclose either 
the extent of the cover or the premium paid.

Member’s Guarantee

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. 
In the event of the company being wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to 
contribute a fee towards SWSPHN.

As at 30 June 2019, there were 8 members of SWSPHN, meaning the aggregate amount that the 
members of the company would be liable to contribute in the event of the company being wound up is 
$80.

Proceedings on behalf of the company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a 
party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those 
proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought, or intervened in, on behalf of the company with leave of the court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Environmental Regulation

The company’s operations are not regulated by any particular and significant environmental regulation 
under a law of the Commonwealth, or of a State or Territory.

Significant changes

The company received ISO certification on 11 December 2018. The certification confirms that the 
company operates a Quality Management System which complies with ISO 9001.2015 for the provision 
of functions and services to support health care providers and related organisations across the South 
Western Sydney Primary Health Network catchment areas through strategic planning, commissioning 
services, supporting general practices and other health care providers and supporting integration of 
local health care services.

The Company remains a key commissioner of health services which meet population need including 
mental health, drug and alcohol and chronic disease services. Investment in GP capacity building and 
support remains significant. The strategic plan was reviewed and remains fit for purpose.
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Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 60-40 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 is set out on page 9.

Directors’ signatures

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to s.298 (2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors:

Chairperson …………………………………………………………………………..
Dr Matthew Gray

Vice Chairperson ……………………………………………………………………………
Dr Anett Wegerhoff

Dated 29th August 2019
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Revenue from grants 2(a) 25,324,452 22,806,099

Other revenue 2(b) 783,537 863,351

Total revenue 26,107,989 23,669,450

Employee benefit expense 8(a) 5,588,435 6,336,807
Finance costs 11,695 37,449
Occupancy costs 297,300 582,692
Contractors 19,254,642 15,166,768
Training & conferences 299,015 530,857
Other expenses 621,837 983,357

Surplus before income tax expense 35,065 31,520

Income tax benefit / (expense) 1(o) - -

Net Surplus for the year 35,065 31,520

Other Comprehensive Income for the 
year

- -

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
year 35,065 31,520

The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the 
notes to the financial statements set out on pages 14 to 29.
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Statement of Financial Position  
As at 30 June 2019 

  Note 2019  2018 
   $  $ 
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  3 21,854,487  20,814,258 
Trade and other receivables  4 13,444  1,278,271 
Other current assets  5 321,061  21,695 
      

Total current assets   22,188,992  22,114,224 
      

Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment  6 -  - 
      

Total non-current assets   -  - 
      

Total assets   22,188,992  22,114,224 
      

Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 
Provisions 
Other liabilities 

 7 
8 
9 

5,663,143 
479,087 

15,725,030 

 6,243,706 
397,796 

15,210,713 
      

Total current liabilities   21,867,260  21,852,215 
      

Non-current liabilities      
Provisions  8 109,202  84,544 
      

Total non-current liabilities   109,202  84,544 
      

Total liabilities   21,976,462  21,936,759 
      

Net assets   212,530  177,465 
      

Equity      
Retained surpluses   212,530  177,465 
      

Total equity   212,530  177,465 
      

 
 
 
 
 
The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 
set out on pages 14 to 29.  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Retained 
surpluses

$

Balance at 1 July 2017 145,945

Net surplus for the year

Other comprehensive Income for the year

Total comprehensive Income for the year

31,520

-

31,520

Balance at 30 June 2018 177,465

Retained 
surpluses

$

Balance at 1 July 2018 177,465

Net surplus for the year

Other comprehensive Income for the year

Total comprehensive Income for the year

35,065

-

35,065

Balance at 30 June 2019 212,530

The Statement in Changes in Equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements set out on pages 14 to 29.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from grants and other receipts (inclusive of GST) 29,792,549 28,206,622
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (29,405,970) (23,437,654)
Interest received 688,014 516,607

Net cash provided by operating activities 15 1,074,593 5,285,575

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant & equipment (34,364) -

Net cash used in investing activities (34,364) -

Net cash (used in) / provided by financing 
activities - -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,040,229 5,285,575

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the year 15 20,814,258 15,528,683

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
year 15 21,854,487 20,814,258

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set 
out on pages 14 to 29
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 

1 Statement of significant accounting policies  
 

 General information and statement of compliance 
 

The financial statements of the company are general purpose financial statements that have 
been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, Australian 
Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. South Western Sydney Primary Health Network Limited is a not-for-profit 
Company for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 
 
South Western Sydney Primary Health Network ”SWSPHN” Limited is a public company limited 
by guarantee incorporated on 23 April 2015 and domiciled in Australia. The address of its 
registered office and its principal place of business is Level 3, 1 Bolger Street Campbelltown 
NSW, Australia. 
 
The financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2019 were approved and authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 29th August 2019. All amounts are in Australian dollars. 

(a) Economic dependency  
 
SWSPHN is dependent on the Department of Health for the majority of its revenue used to 
operate the business. 
 

(b) Revenue 
 

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the Company obtains 
control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow 
to the Company and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 
 
If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied. 
 
When grant revenue is received whereby the Company incurs an obligation to deliver economic 
value directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant 
revenue is recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has 
been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt. 
 
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate 
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. 
 
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customers. 
 
Except where noted, all revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
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1 Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the 
date of their origin.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, 
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured using the cost basis. The carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is reviewed annually by the directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of 
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employment and 
subsequent disposal.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight line basis over their 
useful lives to the company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation rate
Plant and equipment 20-25%

The asset’s residual value and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount. These gains and losses are included in the income statement.

(e) Leases

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the 
ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Company are 
classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
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(e) Leases (continued)

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is 
likely that the Company will obtain ownership of the asset.  Lease payments are allocated between 
the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense period.

Lease payments are operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the 
lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the lease term.

(f) Financial instruments 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by 
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured 
initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
described below. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable)

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

• amortised cost

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)

• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade 
receivables which is presented within other expenses.

Classifications are determined by both:

• The entities business model for managing the financial asset

• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade 
receivables, which is presented within other expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
(f) Financial Instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are 
not designated as FVPL):

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well 
as long-term deposit that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to 
collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business 
model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are accounted for at FVPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply 
(see below).

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Equity FVOCI)

Investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading are eligible for an irrevocable election 
at inception to be measured at FVOCI. Under Equity FVOCI, subsequent movements in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends from 
these investments continue to be recorded as other income within the profit or loss unless the 
dividend clearly represents return of capital. 

Impairment of Financial assets 

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses - the ‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the new 
requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
FVOCI, trade receivables and loan commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the 
issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring 
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable 
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 

(f) Financial Instruments (continued) 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 
date.  

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit 
losses’ are recognised for the second category.  

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.  

Trade and other receivables  

The Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and 
records the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this 
practical expedient, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-
looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.  

The Company assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess credit 
risk characteristics based on the days past due. The Company allows 1% for amounts that are 30 to 
60 days past due, 1.5% for amounts that are between 60 and 90 days past due and writes off fully 
any amounts that are more than 90 days past due.  

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities  

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from AASB 139, the Company’s 
financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for completeness, the 
accounting policy is disclosed below.  

The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables.  

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs unless the Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.  

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at 
fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments 
that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).  

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported 
in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

 
Accounts policy applicable to comparative period (30 June 2018) 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by 
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially 
measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
described below. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred.  A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
(f) Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated 
and
effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial 
recognition:

• loans and receivables
• financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)
• Held-To-Maturity (HTM) investments
• Available-For-Sale (AFS) financial assets

The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and 
expense is recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at 
each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied 
for each category of financial assets, which are described below.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are
presented within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of trade receivables 
which is presented within other expenses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Discounting 
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s trade and most other 
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or 
when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables 
that are not considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, 
which are determined by reference to the industry and region of a counterparty and other 
shared credit risk characteristics.

The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for 
each identified group.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payable.

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for financial liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income



SOUTH WESTERN SYDNEY PRIMARY HEALTH NETWORK 
Limited 

20

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
(g) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use (determined as the depreciated replacement cost), is 
compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
lives.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.

(h) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected 
to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long-term employee benefits

The Company’s liabilities for long service leave are included in other long-term benefits as 
they are not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period 
in which the employees render the related service. They are measured at the present value of
the expected future payments to be made to employees. The expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of 
service, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of 
the reporting period on high quality government bonds that have maturity dates that 
approximate the timing of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in 
the periods in which the changes occur.

The Company presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position if the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least twelve (12) months after the reporting period, irrespective of when the actual 
settlement is expected to take place.

(i) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present 
values, where the time value of money is material.

No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligation 
is not probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of 
resources is remote in which case no liability is recognised.



SOUTH WESTERN SYDNEY PRIMARY HEALTH NETWORK 
Limited 
 

21 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 
 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of six months or less, and bank 
overdrafts. 
 

(k) Goods and services tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are 
shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
components of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 

(l) Grants in advance 
 
The Company receives grant monies to fund projects either for contracted periods of time or 
for specific projects irrespective of the period of time required to complete those projects.  It is 
the policy of the Company to treat grant monies as grants in advance in the balance sheet 
where the Company is contractually obliged to provide the services in a subsequent financial 
period to when  
 
the grant is received or in the case of specific project grants where the project has not been 
completed. 
 

(m) Deferred income 
 
The liability for deferred income is the unutilised amounts of grants received on the condition 
that specified services are delivered or conditions are fulfilled. The services are usually 
provided or the conditions usually fulfilled within twelve (12) months of receipt of the grant. 
Where the amount received is in respect of services to be provided over a period that exceeds 
twelve (12) months after the reporting date or the conditions will only be satisfied more than 
twelve (12) months after the reporting date, the liability is discounted and presented as non-
current. 
 

(n) Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables represent the liability at the end of the reporting period for goods 
and services received by the company during the reporting period, which remain unpaid.  
 

(o) Income tax 
 
The Company is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997.  
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(p) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements 
based on historical knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a 
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, 
obtained both externally and within the company. Information about estimates and assumptions 
that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.

Impairment
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash 
generating units based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount 
them. Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the 
determination of a suitable discount rate.

Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting 
date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to 
technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment.

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining 
the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion 
and inflation have been taken into account.   

(q) Comparative figures

Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 
with changes in presentation in the current year. 
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(r) New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements

A number of new and revised standards became effective for the first time to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2018.  Information on the more significant standards is presented 
below.

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments
• AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition

and Measurement. It makes major changes to the previous guidance on the classification
and measurement of financial assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for
impairment of financial assets.

• When adopting AASB 9, the Group has applied transitional relief and opted not to restate
prior periods. Differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 in relation to classification,
measurement, and impairment are recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 July
2018.

• Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.

The adoption of these standards has not had a material impact on the company.

Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective and not been adopted early by the 
Company

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following AASB Standards and AASB 
Iinterpretations were also in issue but not yet effective.

Standard/Interpretation Effective for 
annual reporting 

periods beginning 
on or after

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 

ending
AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2019 30 June 2020
AASB 16 Leases 1 January 2019 30 June 2020

The potential effect of the revised Standards/Interpretations on the company‘s financial statements 
has not yet been determined.
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2019 2018

$ $
2 Surplus before Income Tax

(a) Revenue from grants

State & federal grants 24,954,584 22,376,287
Other organisations 369,868 429,812

25,324,452 22,806,099

(b) Other Income

Donations 22,431 22,213
Interest 688,014 516,607
Session fees - 198,943
Other 73,092 125,588

783,537 863,351
3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled in 
the Statement of Financial position as follows:

Cash on hand
Cash at bank 

1,000
5,474,323

496
6,645,413

Short term deposits 16,379,164 14,168,349

21,854,487 20,814,258

4 Trade and other receivables

Current trade receivables 13,444 1,278,271
Provision for impairment of 
receivables - -

Trade receivables 13,444 1,278,271
Other receivables - -

13,444 1,278,271

Current trade receivables are non-interest bearing. A provision for impairment is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired.  No impairment
was required at 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018 - $0).
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2019 2018
$ $

5 Other current assets

Prepayments 295,621 17,971
Accrued income 25,440 3,724

321,061 21,695

6 Property, plant & equipment

Plant and equipment – at cost 265,994 198,105
Less: Accumulated depreciation (265,994) (198,105)

Total property, plant and equipment - -

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year - -

Additions at cost 34,364 -

Disposals -

Depreciation expense (34,364) -

Carrying amount at the end of the year - -

7 Trade and other payables
Trade payables
Other creditors and accruals 
Bank guarantee 

190,436
5,472,707

-

2,003,626
4,217,675

22,405

5,663,143 6,243,706

8 Provisions for employee benefits

The liabilities recognised for employee benefits consist of the following amounts:

Current
Annual leave 350,439 303,493
Long service leave 128,648 94,303

479,087 397,796

Non Current
Long service leave 109,202 84,544
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8(a) Employee benefits expense

Expenses recognised for employee benefits are analysed 
below:
Wages, salaries 4,546,717 5,431,477

Workers compensation insurance 34,726 23,264

Superannuation 451,771 500,574

Employee benefits provisions 555,221 381,492

Employee benefits expense 5,588,435 6,336,807

9 Other liabilities

Deferred income 14,096,614 13,462,670

Grants in advance 1,628,416 1,748,043

15,725,030 15,210,713

Deferred income consists of government grants received for services to be rendered by the 
Company.

Deferred income and grants in advance are amortised over the life of the contract.

10 Key management personnel & related parties

The key management personnel of the company are the directors, the Chief Executive Officer, 
Director of Innovations and Partnerships, and Director of Planning and Performance.

The total compensation paid and payable to the key management personnel including a 
stipend paid to the Chair, consists of short term benefits of $829,423 (period ended 30 June 
2018 $842,241).

The Company has After Hours General Practitioner Commissioned Services Agreements with 
two director related entities. The amounts billed were based on normal market rates and 
amounted to $957,000 (2018: $428,000). There were no outstanding balances at the reporting 
dates under review.
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11 Fair Value measurement

Fair Value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and 
can be compared to their carrying values as presented in the balance sheet. Fair values are those 
amounts at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Areas of judgment and the assumptions used have 

been detailed below.  Where possible, valuation information used to calculate fair value is 
extracted from the market, with more reliable information available from markets that are actively 
traded.

2019 2018

Amortised 
Cost

Net 
Fair 

Value

Amortised
Cost

Net 
Fair 

Value
$ $ $ $

Financial assets
Current
Cash and cash 
equivalents

21,854,487 21,854,487 20,814,258 20,814,258

Trade and other 
receivables

13,444 13,444 1,278,271 1,278,271

Total financial assets 21,867,931 21,867,931 22,092,529 22,092,529

Financial liabilities
Current financial 
liabilities measured at 
amortised cost
Trade and other 
payables

5,663,143 5,663,143 6,243,706 6,243,706

Total financial 
liabilities

5,663,143 5,663,143 6,243,706 6,243,706
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12 Contingent liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities that have been incurred by the company.

13 Capital commitments

The company has no capital commitments as at 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018: $0)

The company leases property, under operating leases expiring from one to five years. Leases 
generally   provide the company the right of renewal at which time some terms are 
renegotiated. Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental contingent rental.

15 Cash flow information

(i)   Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the 
related items in the balance sheet as follows:

2019 2018
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes 21,854,487 20,814,258

(ii) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with 
surplus after income tax 

Net Surplus for the period 35,065 31,520

Non-cash flows in net surplus for the period
Depreciation / amortisation 34,364 -

Net changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 1,264,827 (1,261,253)
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (299,366) 430,842
Increase/ (decrease) payables (580,563) 2,618,814
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 105,949 (170,482)
Increase/(decrease) in grants in advance and deferred income 514,317 3,636,134

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,074,593 5,285,575

14 Leases, operating leases as lessee

Operating lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases
contracted for but not capitalised in
the financial statements

2019
$

2018
$

Not later than 12 months 249,899 32,051
Between 12 months and 5 years 277,552 18,400

527,451 50,451
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16      Post-reporting date events

No adjusting or significant other non-adjusting events have occurred between the 
reporting date and the date of authorisation.

17 Members Guarantee

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company 
limited by guarantee. If the Company is wound up, the constitution states that each 
member is required to contribute a maximum $10 each towards meeting any 
outstanding obligations of the Company. At 30 June 2019, the total amount that 
members of the Company are liable to contribute if the Company is wound up is $80.
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In the opinion of the Directors of South Western Sydney Primary Health Network limited:

1. The financial statements, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes,
are in accordance with the Australia Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012
a) comply with Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements (including the

Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Regulation 2013; and;

b) give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its
performance for the period ended on that date.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that South Western Sydney Primary Health Network
Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

__________________________
Dr Matthew Gray – Director

__________________________
Dr Anett Wegerhoff - Director

Dated 29th August 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH WESTERN SYDNEY PRIMARY HEALTH NETWORK LIMITED 
ABN 74 605 441 067 

 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of South Western Sydney Primary Health Network Limited (the 
Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors declaration 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of South Western Sydney Primary Health Network 
Limited has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, including: 
 
(i0 giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its 

financial performance for the year then ended; and 
 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 

Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. 
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Information other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information 
included in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.  Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the 
other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  In 
connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report 
and our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Act 2012 and for such internal control as the directors  
 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The directors are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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